What to Expect in Texas Family Law Court

A Public Service Provided By
The Texas Young Lawyer's Association

2004-2005 Family Law & Children's Rights Committee
Chairs, Christy Albano and Eric Jarvis
Vice Chairs, Scott Renick and Barbara Stalder
Contributing Committee Members:
Karen Fryer, Kimberly Killebrew, Lisa Hernandez, Kristy Piazza

Free download available at www.tyla.org

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	.1
Court Appearance	.1
Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) Options	.2
Child Protection Cases.	.3
Adoption	.9
Divorce1	l 1
Custody / Conservatorship1	3
Visitation / Possession and Access	9
Child Support2	22
Modification of a Suit Affecting the Parent Child Relationship2	24
Enforcement Remedies in Family Court	26
Common Words in Texas Family Court	33
Resources3	38

INTRODUCTION

Navigating your way through a family law case can be confusing during what is often a stressful and emotional time in your life. Not knowing what to expect can make it even harder. This handout is intended to help you understand what you can expect when you have a case in Texas family law court.

Please note that this handout is not intended to be legal advice and is not a substitute for legal representation by an attorney. You are encouraged to seek the advice of your own attorney to answer any specific legal questions you may have.

COURT APPEARANCE

At some point during your case, at least one of you will usually need to go in front of the Judge. This happens even if you and the other side reach an agreement.

What to Wear. It is important to dress appropriately when appearing in court. Everything you wear should be clean, pressed, and neat in appearance. Men should wear a suit, or pants and a shirt with a collar. Women should wear a suit, dress, skirt, or pants that are not too tight, too short, or too revealing. Shorts, t-shirts, sunglasses, or hats are not allowed in court. Excessive make up, jewelry, or hairstyles are not advised. If you are unsure about what you should wear, ask your attorney what is appropriate for the courtroom you will be in.

<u>How to Act.</u> A court hearing or trial is a formal legal proceeding and all persons are expected to be on their best behavior while in a courtroom. Always treat the judge and other court personnel with the utmost respect.

When you enter a courtroom, you should turn off all noise-making items such as watches, cell phones or pagers. Food, drinks, and chewing gum are not allowed inside. You cannot bring magazines, newspapers, or any outside reading into the courtroom. Once the judge has entered the courtroom, you cannot talk, whisper or write notes to anyone, unless your attorney addresses you directly and needs a response.

When it is time for your court matter to be heard, you should speak clearly, politely and loud enough to be heard by the judge and the court reporter. All responses must be verbal (e.g. not by a nodding or shaking of the head.). If you address the judge directly or answer a question the judge has asked, always begin or end your answer with "Your Honor," "Sir" or "Ma'am." When referring to anyone else, even someone you know well, address him or her as "Mr.," "Mrs.," or "Ms." Never interrupt when someone else is speaking, especially the judge, even if you feel like what they are saying reflects badly on your case or they may be mistaken in their facts. You or your attorney will get a turn to speak. Sometimes during testimony, one of the attorneys has to make an objection. If this happens while you are speaking, stop talking until the judge can make a decision on whether you need to finish answering the question.

If you are asked a question that you do not understand, it is okay to respectfully ask for clarification. If you need a tissue, water, or a break, it is okay to respectfully request one.

Bringing Others to Court With You.

Friends and Witnesses — Court proceedings are open to the public and therefore you can bring any adult family members, friends, clergy, or anyone else who will provide you with support during your court matter. If these persons will not also be witnesses in your case, they can stay and watch the proceeding. If any of them will be called as witnesses, they will have to leave the courtroom until it is their turn to speak Witnesses are not allowed to discuss the case with anyone while they wait to be called to speak. Witnesses are allowed to bring books or magazines to read while outside the courtroom. If you are unsure about who to bring with you, you should discuss it with your attorney.

Children – You should not bring children to the courthouse, even if the family law matter being heard involves them, unless your attorney has directed you to or you have been ordered by the judge to do so. If you cannot avoid bringing your children to the courthouse, then you should bring a competent adult to supervise them while you are inside the courtroom, as the children will not be allowed inside while court is in session.

In very few instances, the judge will interview the children involved. There are special procedures for this to occur outside the actual court hearing if that is necessary. You should discuss with your attorney whether children's statements are needed in your family law matter.

ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION (ADR) OPTIONS

All issues in a case are determined one of two ways. Either the parties reach an agreement or the court makes a ruling at a hearing or trial. ADR options are different processes that may be used to help the parties reach an agreement so that court proceedings to obtain a ruling are not necessary. They are often used in family law cases to help settle a case and avoid the expense and emotional stress of a trial. There are several ADR options, more fully described below. A case may be referred to an ADR process by one or both of the parties, or by a ruling of the court. Some judges require that the parties attempt to settle their case through one of these ADR options before they will hear a trial in that case.

Mediation is the most common form of ADR used for a family law matter. A neutral person, called a mediator, meets with the parties to help facilitate an agreement. The attorneys are usually present at the mediation but are not required to be. You should discuss with your attorney whether it is important for the attorney to be present during your mediation. An agreement is not required and the mediator has no power to force the parties to settle. However, if an agreement is reached, the parties sign a written binding contract that is enforceable in court.

Collaborative Law is a process where the parties agree to resolve their dispute without going to court. This process is new and is most often used in a divorce. However, it can be applied in any type of case where the parties feel it will be beneficial. The purpose of collaborative law is to minimize the damage caused by a divorce and to assist the parties in making a productive transition. Each party hires a collaborative law attorney and signs an agreement promising to be respectful toward each other during the divorce and settlement negotiations. All terms of the divorce are decided during a process of private negotiation meetings with the parties and their attorneys. If necessary, other experts such as accountants or counselors may also attend the meetings to assist with financial or communication issues. The primary advantage to collaborative law is that the parties direct the terms of settlement, not the lawyers or the judge. This tends to result in more satisfaction for the parties, and fewer trips back to the courthouse in the future. If an agreement is not reached, or if one of the parties decides to go to court, both parties must discharge the collaborative attorneys and new litigation attorneys must be hired by the parties before going to court.

Arbitration is a process where a neutral person, called an arbitrator, makes the final decision in the case instead of a judge. Arbitration is not used very often in Texas family law cases. An advantage to arbitration may be the possibility of a quicker trial date, quicker final resolution, and privacy, but arbitration rulings are usually considered final and cannot be appealed.

A **Mini Trial** is a process where both attorneys present a summary of his or her side of the case to a neutral person who sits as the mini trial judge. The mini trial judge then meets with the attorneys and parties, gives a recommendation on how he would rule based on the evidence presented, and then the judge acts as a mediator to try to help the parties reach an agreement.

A **Summary Jury Trial** is a process where a short summary of the case is presented to a real jury. The jury members typically do not know this is not the real trial until after they have heard the case and made a ruling. After the jury has ruled, the parties continue negotiating to reach a settlement. If jury members agree, the attorneys may ask the jury how their decision was reached. Often, the ruling of the summary jury trial is a good indication as to what the final outcome will be in the real case.

A **Private Judge Hearing** is when a retired judge is hired to hear the case. The advantage to hiring a private judge is privacy and expediency in reaching a final decision. Rules of evidence apply and the trial may take place at any location agreed upon by the judge and the parties. The ruling of a private judge is subject to the rules of appeal.

CHILD PROTECTION CASES

The following information was adapted from <u>A Handbook for Parents and Guardians in Child Protection Cases</u> created by the Child Abuse and Neglect Committee of the State Bar of Texas. It is available for free at www.texasbar.com under the Child Abuse and Neglect Committee, or by calling the State Bar of Texas Public Information department.

What is CPS? Child Protective Services (CPS) is a part of the Texas Department of Family and Protective Services (FPS), a State Agency set up by law to make sure children are safe at all times. All citizens in the community are required to report unsafe activity by calling 1-800-252-5400.

If a report is received saying that your child is not safe, information about the reason for the removal of your child is outlined in a paper called a Notification for Removal, left at your home. The CPS caseworker from FPS may also explain why your child was removed from your care.

What if you disagree with the decision to remove the child from your home? If you disagree with the caseworker and the reason for removal of your child, you will have a chance to explain your side to a judge soon after the removal of your child.

Why should you talk to the judge? It is important to give the parties and the court your explanation of the events that brought your child into foster care. Remember that you may speak with the judge only during court hearings. You may not meet with the judge privately outside of court.

The purposes of the Child Protection Court is to keep children safe and to help families create a safe home for their children. The Child Protection Court is not designed to punish parents.

The judge can require you and your family to get help. The judge also can order that your child be temporarily placed in the custody of CPS. This means that, for the time being, CPS is legally responsible for your child and, with the approval of the Child Protection Court, can make decisions about where your child should live and what you need to do to have your child returned to you.

The same problems that brought you to the Child Protection Court could result in criminal charges against you, your partner, or someone else in your family. In that case, you may have to go to another court and see another judge. This handout does not deal with criminal cases. It is about civil proceedings (meetings and hearings) in the Child Protection Court. Anything you say in Child Protection Court may be used against you in a criminal case. If criminal charges have been filed against you, or you think they might be, you should talk to an attorney.

What happens after your child is removed from your home? If your child is removed from your home, you will be notified in writing and you will receive a copy of the paperwork that has been filed with the court. One of the forms you will receive is called a petition. The petition is written after a report is received and investigated by CPS.

The petition names you as a respondent. This is the term used by the Child Protection Court for the parent or guardian in a child abuse and neglect case.

The petition lists one or more allegations (usually located in the Affidavit attached to the petition). Allegations are statements of what happened and reasons

why your child needs to be in the custody of CPS. If you do not understand the petition or any other paperwork, talk to your attorney.

Your rights:

- You have the right to an attorney. If you cannot afford to pay for an attorney, and CPS is seeking to terminate your parental rights, you may ask the judge to appoint an attorney for you.
- You have the right to admit or deny the allegations made about you and your family.
- You have the right to be notified of all court hearings.
- You have the right to attend all court hearings and meetings.
- You have the right to an interpreter in court if you do not understand English or you are hearing impaired.
- You have the right to talk to your CPS caseworker and your attorney.
 Remember, they may be busy with someone else when you call. Be sure to leave a message with a phone number where you can be reached or try to call them again. Keep track of the best times to call them.

Your responsibilities:

- Take this seriously.
- Attend all court hearings and meetings.
- Cooperate with your family services plan.
- Stay in touch with your attorney and your caseworker. Be sure they always have a current address and telephone number for you.

Things move very quickly in child abuse and neglect cases. Be sure that you know what you are supposed to do and when, and then do it. It could make the difference in whether your child is returned to you.

Who Will Be Involved in your CPS Case?

CPS Caseworker – When your child is removed from your home, you will be given a notice of removal and the name and phone number of the CPS investigative caseworker. After approximately two to three weeks, your investigative worker will transfer the case to another caseworker. The caseworker will:

- Contact you to give you more information and ask you some questions;
- Visit your child regularly;
- Help you understand the problems that brought you to court, and
- Help you work on your service plan, which lists the steps you must take to have your child returned to you.

If you do not hear from your CPS caseworker for awhile, or if you have questions or problems, call him or her.

Your Attorney – When you go to court, the judge will ask if you have an attorney. You have the right to an attorney. If you cannot afford to pay for an attorney, and

CPS is seeking to terminate your parental rights, you may ask the judge to appoint one for you. Your attorney should:

- Talk with you before every hearing;
- Speak for you in court;
- Help you understand your rights;
- Tell you about the hearings you will attend; and
- Tell you what to expect at each hearing.

If you do not hear from your attorney for awhile, or if you have questions or problems, call him or her. It is up to you to make sure your attorney can find you.

The Attorney for CPS – CPS also has an attorney. The attorney for CPS represents CPS in court, and must prove why your child should be in CPS custody now.

Your Child's Attorney – the Attorney Ad Litem (AAL) – Your child will have an attorney appointed by the court. This attorney is called an attorney ad litem (AAL). The attorney ad litem's job is to meet with your child and act as an advocate on behalf of your child. Often the attorney ad litem also serves as the guardian ad litem (GAL) for your child.

The Court Appointed Special Advocate (CASA) – The judge may also appoint a special advocate. This child advocate is a trained volunteer who will meet with you and your child, as well as others involved in this case. The child advocate reports to the court about how your child is doing and what they feel is in your child's best interest. Sometimes the child advocate may be called a guardian ad litem (GAL).

Mediators – During the case, the Judge may order that your case be sent to mediation or family group conference. Mediation is a meeting between you, your attorney, the child's attorney, CPS, and the CPS attorney to try to reach an agreement instead of going to court. Mediators are independent, neutral individuals who have been specially trained to help people work out differences. Mediation is not a court hearing. If you wish to use a mediator to help with your case, ask if mediation is available in your area.

When will you have to go to court? You may be asked to attend several court hearings and other meetings so that the judge and others can listen to all sides and decide how to help your family. Each court hearing and meeting has a different purpose. Most child abuse and neglect cases have at least eight different court hearings and meetings during the first year:

- Emergency Hearing
- Adversary Hearing (Show Cause) or Mediation
- Initial Permanency Planning Team Meeting or PPT
- Status Hearing
- Initial Permanency Hearing
- Additional PPT meetings
- Permanency Hearing
- Final Hearing (Trial)

It is important for you to be on time for all these hearings. If you are not present in court at the time a hearing or trial is scheduled, the proceeding may begin without you.

Emergency Hearing – If your child has been removed from your home without a court order, the emergency hearing will be held within one working day of when the petition is filed in Child Protection Court and may take place without you being there. The hearing gives the judge the chance to find out why your child was removed from your home.

At the emergency hearing, the judge will decide if your child should stay in the temporary custody of CPS until the adversary hearing. The attorney for CPS will present information about the case to the judge. Information will include the allegations made and what the investigation by CPS has revealed so far. CPS will also let the judge know what actions have been taken to find a placement for the child, other than foster care.

Adversary Hearing (Show Cause) – The adversary hearing will be held no later than the 14th day after the date the child was removed The purpose of this hearing is to determine whether the child's emergency removal was proper and to get temporary orders for the protection of the child until the case is over.

The judge may decide to return your child to you, or to place the child with a family member, a family friend, or another appropriate adult who is willing to help and cooperate in this matter. You should come to the hearing with the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of people who might be able to keep your child temporarily. Finally, the judge may decide that for safety and protection of your child it would be best that your child remain in the care of CPS.

This hearing is your chance to explain the situation from your point of view and let the judge know how you intend to protect your child now and in the future.

Permanency Planning Team Meetings – The Permanency Planning Team meeting (PPT) is usually held between 30 and 45 days after the removal of your child from your home and again in the 5th, 9th and 13th months. Although this is not a court hearing and the judge will not be present, all the people who are involved in the case, including the attorneys, the child if over 12 years of age, foster parents, parents, CPS staff and other caretakers can be there. Family members who are interested in your child are also encouraged to attend.

At the first PPT meeting (or staffing) a "service plan" will be developed and discussed. The service plan will include the goal for the child that may be:

- Reunification with parent(s);
- Termination of parents' rights to the child;
- Placement of child with relatives:
- Placement of child in foster care;
- Adoptive placement.

The purpose of this meeting is to talk about why your child was removed from your home. The other purpose of this meeting is to come up with a service plan for your child and your family that will help get your family together again, or whatever is best for your child. That service plan will be presented to the Child Protection Court. Be aware that the plan may change, but it will remain in effect until amended by CPS and approved by the court.

It is very important that you attend the PPT meetings, so that your ideas about what is best for your family and what can be done to make sure your child remains safe can be heard. You will receive a letter telling you about PPT meetings: the date, time and place. You may also call your CPS caseworker to find out about your child's next PPT meeting.

Status Hearing – You have the right to a hearing before a judge to discuss the service plan prepared by CPS. This hearing is called the status hearing. It will be held within 60 days of when your child was ordered into the temporary care of CPS.

The purpose of the status hearing is to make sure that there is a service plan in place for your child, that you are aware of this service plan and all of its contents, and that you understand that you must complete all of the requests made in this service plan (which the judge adopts) in order to have your child returned to you. At this hearing the judge may also ask about your current compliance with this plan.

You will be warned that unless you do what is asked of you in the service plan, your rights as a parent may be restricted or terminated. It is very important that you attend the status hearing.

Permanency Hearing – The initial permanency hearing must be held no later than 180 days after CPS is named as temporary managing conservator of your child.

The purpose of the permanency hearing is to evaluate the permanency plan for the child to ensure that a final order consistent with that permanency plan is rendered before the date for dismissal of the case.

The judge will review your case to make sure that the service plan is being followed. The judge will check to make sure you are doing what is ordered in the plan. The judge will check to make sure the CPS caseworker and others are doing what is ordered in the plan. If everyone agrees that the service plan needs to be changed, the judge may order those changes.

You will be told in court that your parental and custodial rights may be subject to restriction or termination unless you are willing and able to provide your child with a safe environment. If the judge believes your child will be safe, and that it is in your child's best interest to be returned to you at this time, the judge can decide to return your child to you.

At this hearing it will be decided what plans, services, or other temporary orders are necessary to ensure final orders are rendered prior to the dismissal deadline. At the close of the hearing, the judge may set a dismissal date and give notice in open court

to all parties of that date, the date of the next permanency hearing, and the date the case is set for trial.

Subsequent Permanency Hearings – If the judge decides at your first permanency hearing that your child cannot be safely returned home, another permanency hearing will be held to allow you to continue with services and determine the progress you have made, or decide if your child's plan should be changed to adoption, or some other permanent arrangement outside of your home.

Subsequent permanency hearings must be held no later than every 120 days until entry of a final order. The court can hold the hearing at an earlier date. The requirements and procedures are the same as for the initial permanency hearing.

Final Hearing (Trial) – The court must enter a final order before the first Monday after the anniversary of the order appointing CPS temporary managing conservator, unless on or before that date the court has granted an extension of no more than 180 days.

A final order is one that:

- Requires that the child be returned to the parents;
- Names a relative of the child or another person as the child's managing conservator;
- Without terminating the parent-child relationship, appoints CPS as the managing conservator of the child; or
- Terminates the parent-child relationship and appoints a relative of the child, another suitable person, or CPS as the managing conservator.

For all final hearings, testimony and evidence will be offered regarding your child's best interest.

ADOPTION

There are two steps to secure an adoption in Texas:

- (1) the court must terminate the birth parents' rights to the child; and
- (2) the adoption must be approved by the court.

What is the effect of a court order terminating a parent's rights? Termination of parental rights means a parent is no longer considered a legal parent to the child. The parent will no longer have any legal rights, duties or responsibilities to the child and the child may be adopted by someone else. A termination order is normally considered final and cannot be changed.

<u>How are parental rights terminated?</u> The termination of parental rights may happen with the agreement of each parent, or by a court finding it is in the best interest of the child to terminate one or both of the parent's rights.

How do the biological parents indicate an agreement? Birth parents, both father and mother, generally must sign forms (called relinquishments of rights) indicating their desire to place a child for adoption before a court will terminate their interests. The relinquishment must be freely and voluntarily signed after the child is at least 48 hours old. Properly signed relinquishments generally cannot be revoked for 60 days. Within this 60 day period, the court generally decides whether to terminate parental rights. A decision to terminate is, except in very unusual situations, permanent.

What if there is no agreement by one or both of the biological parents? The court will only terminate a parent's rights if the court finds the termination and adoption to be in the best interest of the child. An attorney will be appointed, called an Amicus Attorney, to investigate whether the termination would be in the best interest of the child. The court generally only grants an involuntary termination when a biological parent has consistently not participated in the child's life and has provided little or no support and there is evidence that a fit and stable person in the child's life is willing to adopt, or the biological parent has been determined unfit to provide for the care of the child due to abuse or neglect.

What if the birth father cannot be located? If the location or identity of the birth father is unknown, he is nonetheless entitled to notice of the proceedings, and you must show the court that you have diligently tried to find him. He can be served with notice of the termination proceeding by publication of notice in a newspaper of general circulation in the county. The court may require publication in the county where the child was born and/or the county of the birth father's last known residence. The rules for notice by publication are complex and must be strictly followed. Once notice is considered complete, the court will appoint an attorney to represent the interests of the birth father.

What actions must be taken before the court will grant an adoption? The court will require the report of a social study performed in the home of the adoptive parents. The adoptive parents must also obtain a Texas Criminal History Report. Courts also generally require that the child live in the home for six months before granting an adoption. This six month requirement can be waived only if the court finds "good cause." If the adoption is by someone other than a grandparent, aunt or uncle, or stepparent, the court also requires a report to be compiled on the available health, social, educational, and genetic history of the child to be adopted.

What if the child is an American Indian? If the child is an American Indian, very powerful federal law called the Indian Child Welfare Act will apply and the adoptive parents must comply with all terms of this law. The Indian Child Welfare Act is very complicated and if you suspect the child may have an American Indian heritage, you will want to seek legal counsel to ensure the requirements of the act are met. Normally, permission of the tribe must be given before an adoption under this act may be approved.

What if the adoptive parents and the child reside in different states? If the adoptive parents and child are not living in the same state, they must comply with the interstate compact law. The interstate compact office of each state regulates the movement

of children from state to state for purposes of adoption. Failure to comply with these laws before removing a child from the state of Texas is a criminal offense.

<u>Can the child's name be changed at the time of adoption?</u> Yes. The name of the child may be changed in the order if requested.

<u>Can the validity of an adoption order be attacked?</u> Generally, the validity of an adoption order is not subject to attack after six months after the date the order was signed.

DIVORCE

You should consult an attorney regarding your divorce proceeding if the divorce is contested, you have a child custody dispute, or there are complex property divisions. For information on representing yourself in an uncontested divorce, you may want to review the Pro Se Divorce Handbook, created by the Texas Young Lawyer's Association, available for free at www.tyla.org or by calling the TYLA office.

<u>Can I get a legal separation?</u> No. Although a legal separation is available and sometimes required in many states, there is no legal separation in Texas. If you need to protect your interests regarding your property or your children while separated from your spouse, you must file for divorce and obtain temporary orders.

What if one spouse does not want the divorce? In Texas, if one spouse wants to be divorced, the divorce will be granted. Texas is a no fault divorce state, meaning fault does not have to be proven to obtain a divorce.

What if I am in a common law marriage? Common law marriage is when there has been no marriage license issued, but the law considers you married. Texas will find that you are "common law" married if you have lived together in the State of Texas, had a proven intent to be married and held yourselves out to others as husband and wife. There is no minimum time that you have to live together. Examples of holding yourselves out as husband and wife include introducing each other as husband and wife, the wife using the husband's last name as her last name, filing taxes together as husband and wife, and/or including the other person as a dependent on health insurance as a spouse. Living together and having children together does not automatically mean you are common law married under Texas Law. The facts and circumstance of each case must be considered to determine whether a common law marriage exists.

If I am common law married, do I need to get divorced? If you have been separated over two years, then you do not need a divorce. Once you have been separated two years, the law presumes you were not common law married. If you have property to divide, you may want to get divorced so the divorce court can divide the property.

How long does it take to get divorced? Texas has a minimum 60 day waiting period before a divorce can be finalized. The 60 days start running at the time the Original Petition for Divorce is filed with the court. However, most divorces take longer than

60 days. The time frame for divorce may take anywhere from a three to six months if it is agreed, and up to several years in a highly contested matter. The more agreements reached between you and your spouse as to the terms of the divorce, the sooner your divorce will be final.

What is Collaborative Law? Collaborative law is a process where the husband and wife agree to get divorced without going to Court. The purpose of collaborative law is to minimize the damage often caused by a divorce and to assist the parties in making a productive transition. Collaborative law is more fully described above in the section regarding Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) Options.

What is considered community property and community debt? Texas is a "community property" state. In other words, all property owned by married persons on the dissolution of a marriage, whether by death or divorce, is presumed to be the property of both the husband and the wife. Likewise, any debts incurred during marriage are presumed to be community debt. This means that the debts are presumed to be owed by both the husband and the wife. Like community property, community debt must also be divided in a divorce. However, since the creditor is not a party to the divorce action, the creditor may still pursue either spouse for collection of the debt, as they are not bound by the terms of the divorce decree and the divorce court's allocation of responsibility for joint debts. If the divorce court orders a spouse to pay a community debt and he or she does not, the other spouse may file an enforcement action against the non paying spouse.

What is considered separate property? Generally speaking, separate property is property acquired before a marriage and property acquired during marriage through gift or inheritance, or with funds that qualify as separate property. Also, married persons may agree in a properly drafted written agreement to "partition" community property, in which case, that property becomes each spouse's separate property.

How does the court divide the property and debts? Community property and community debts are supposed to be divided in a manner the court "deems just and right, having due regard for the rights of each party and any children of the marriage." This does not mean that community property or debt must necessarily be equally divided. The judge dividing community property and debt may consider many factors, such as the size of your and your spouse's separate estates, and any fault causing the divorce.

What is a Temporary Restraining Order? Commonly referred to as a TRO, a temporary restraining order is a routine order at the beginning of a divorce that prohibits the other spouse from doing anything to transfer or destroy the property of the marriage or to cause harassment to the other spouse or the child. It is in effect for 14 days and normally becomes a temporary mutual injunction at the temporary orders hearing. The temporary orders hearing must be held within 14 days of the date the TRO is obtained.

What is a Temporary Hearing? A temporary hearing may be requested to ask the judge to make certain temporary orders while your divorce is pending. Temporary

Orders set the "ground rules" for the parties' conduct during the divorce with regard to such matters as the preservation of property, the protection of both parties, who will live in the marital home, and issues pertaining to the children such as child support and visitation. The temporary orders usually remain in effect until the divorce is final.

What is Discovery? Discovery is a common method of investigation used to gather documents and information. Discovery may be sent as requests to the other side in writing, or may be done in person by depositions. Time deadlines apply in regard to the latest date discovery can be started as well as the number of days allowed to respond. Normally discovery is expected to be complete before a final court hearing or mediation begins.

What is Mediation? Mediation is a common method used to reach an agreement outside of court. A neutral person, called a mediator, meets with the parties to help facilitate an agreement. Mediation is more fully described above in the section regarding Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) Options.

What happens at the trial? A trial is the final court hearing. All issues that are in disagreement are presented to the judge or a jury who will make a final decision. The issues are presented through testimony of the parties, witnesses and evidence presented to the court.

Am I required to attend a parenting class? In a case involving children, most courts require parents to attend a specific class before a final order is entered by the Court. The purpose of the class is to assist the parties in being able to focus on the children's best interest rather than their own. Your attorney, the court, or the district clerk's office can provide you with information as to whether your judge requires this class, and how you can register and attend. You are not normally required to attend this class at the same time as your spouse. There is typically a small fee to attend the class.

What is a prove up? A prove up is the process of finishing your divorce in front of the Judge at an uncontested court hearing. At the prove-up, one or both of the parties tell the final terms of the divorce to the judge. The judge then has the discretion to approve the terms, grant the divorce and/or make any other orders the judge believes are appropriate.

When is my divorce officially considered final? Your divorce is considered final on the specific day the Judge signs the Final Decree of Divorce.

<u>How soon can I remarry?</u> Since one of the parties may appeal a divorce within 30 days after the date it was final, you must wait a minimum of 30 days after your divorce decree is signed by the Judge before you may get married again to someone else.

CUSTODY / CONSERVATORSHIP

Texas uses the term conservatorship to describe the rights, responsibilities and duties of parents in raising their children. This term also describes what most people think of as "custody." Conservatorship or custody does not define the amount of time

each parent will have with the child. It only addresses the legal rights and duties of the parents.

In Texas there are two kinds of conservatorship: (1) sole managing conservatorship, and (2) joint managing conservatorship. The presumption is that joint managing conservatorship is in the best interest of the child. However, the court will consider many factors in deciding which type of conservatorship is appropriate. The "best interest of the child" is always the court's primary concern. The court is not allowed to discriminate against a parent because of sex or marital status. All factors surrounding the child's life may be relevant to determine what is in the child's best interest, including if there has been a history of violence between the parents or violence against the child. If the court finds credible evidence of a history or pattern of family violence, the court is not allowed to appoint the parent who committed the violence as a joint managing conservator, nor should the court appoint that parent as a sole managing conservator. Evidence of family violence may include testimony by the parent who was the victim, witnesses to the violence, pictures, doctors or hospital records, or counseling records or the issuance of a protective order against a parent.

Sole Managing Conservatorship In rare circumstances, one parent may be appointed as the sole managing conservator. When a parent has sole managing conservatorship, that parent has superior rights in raising the child. That parent also has the most responsibility in raising the child. As a sole managing conservator (often referred to as SMC,) that parent has the right to establish where the child will live, the right to consent to any medical treatments, the right to receive child support payments, the right to represent the child in any legal action, the rights to consent to marriage or enlistment in the armed forces, the right to make education decisions, the rights to any earnings by the child, and the right to apply for a passport for the child.

Examples of some reasons why the court might appoint a sole managing conservator:

- there is a history of family violence, neglect or abuse by the other parent that might endanger the child;
- there is a history of drugs, alcohol or other criminal activity by the other parent that might endanger the child;
- the other parent has been absent from the child's life;
- there is a history of extreme conflict between the parents over educational, medical or religious values;
- a parent does not wish to be appointed as a joint managing conservator

Joint Managing Conservatorship When a parent is appointed as a joint managing conservator (referred to as JMC), the parents will often share the above parental rights duties and powers. However, even in a JMC situation, the court must designate one parent who will be responsible for establishing the location of the child's primary residence and designate the geographic location within which the child's residence must be located. This parent is called the primary joint managing conservator, also referred to as the "custodial parent." The other parent is called the "possessory conservator," because that parent has the right to possession of the child at certain times, and

is commonly referred to as the "non-custodial parent." Aside from the decision regarding the location of the child's primary residence, most other major parenting decisions are shared between the primary and possessory joint managing conservators. The presumption under the law is that joint managing conservatorship is in the best interest of the child.

<u>Possessory Conservatorship</u> The court will normally appoint the parent who is not the sole managing conservator as a possessory conservator. In rare circumstances, the court may find that it would not be in the best interest of the child to appoint the other parent as a possessory conservator. Usually this is only done in cases where the child may be in danger of physical or severe emotional abuse.

A parent appointed as a possessory conservator (PC) has the same rights and duties that any parent has to their child. The parent has the duty to support the child even if there is no formal child support order signed by the court.

The possessory conservator has the right to receive information from the other parent about the child's health, education and welfare, the right to talk to the other parent (if possible) before decisions are made about the child's health, education and welfare, the right to have access to the child's records, to talk to the child's doctors, the right to talk to the school about the child and attend school activities, the right to be designated on the child's records as an emergency contact person, the right to consent to medical treatment during an emergency, and the right to manage the estate of the child.

<u>Can a Non-Parent or Grandparent ask for Conservatorship?</u> In limited circumstances, a person other than the parent can be granted conservatorship.

Nonparent – A person, other than a foster parent, who has had actual care, control, and possession of the child for at least six months has standing to ask for custody if the six-month time period has not ended more than 90 days prior to filing the suit.

Foster Parent – A foster parent can file for custody if the child has been in that person's home for at least 12 months, ending not more than 90 days preceding the date the suit is filed.

Grandparent – A grandparent may file for custody if there is satisfactory proof to the court that the child's present living environment presents a serious question concerning the child's physical health or welfare; or both parents, the surviving parent, or the managing conservator either filed the petition or has consented to it.

How do I get custody? When a parent wants to establish conservatorship the parent has the right to file a lawsuit called a *Suit Affecting the Parent Child Relationship or a Suit to Establish the Parent Child Relationship*. The lawsuit will ask the court to decide issues of parentage, conservatorship, visitation and child support. The parent who wants to pay child support or a parent who wants the other parent to pay child sup-

port may hire a private attorney or go to the office of the Attorney General (AG or child support office) and establish a child support order. This type of order may also be handled inside a suit for divorce. During the course of the suit, issues regarding parentage may be raised. If one of the parties claims the father is not the biological father, genetic testing may be ordered. The person asking for the paternity test normally pays for his/her costs for the testing, plus the costs for testing the child. The court will determine who will pay the fees for the other parent's test. Genetic testing normally determines if the man will be considered the legal father of the child. However, certain exceptions apply if the child already has a presumed father under the law.

Filing for custody through the Texas Attorney General's Office. A suit for child support may be filed with the Texas Attorney General's office. The Attorney General represents the state's interest for parents to collect child support. The Attorney General therefore represents the state, not either of the parents. Pursuant to a request by one of the parents, or the state if a parent is receiving state benefits, such as welfare or Medicaid, the Attorney General may file a lawsuit to establish a child support order. Once ordered, the child support will be deducted from the paycheck of the parent who is ordered to pay. When establishing the child support order, the Attorney General typically also addresses the issues of conservatorship and visitation. Often the parents are appointed as joint managing conservators and the parent ordered to pay child support is awarded visitation pursuant to the standard possession schedule. If the parents disagree as to conservatorship or visitation, then the parties should consider hiring private attorneys to ensure their concerns are properly brought to the attention of the court. The AG will not typically assist parents with these matters since they represent the State, not the parents.

Filing for custody when the parents are married to each other: When the child's parents are married to each other, and no prior court orders exist, each parent has equal rights to the child. This means that if one parent wants to move out and take the child, that parent has the right to do so. The police will not get involved without a court order. This remains the case until a court order establishes the rights and duties of each parent, determines which parent the child will primarily reside with, and when each parent shall have possession of the child. This can be done through a divorce action or through a separate suit affecting the parent child relationship (such as a Texas Attorney General's case).

Filing for custody when the parents are not married to each other but had a child together: When two people are not married to one another and have a child together, the father must legally prove he is the father in order to have parental rights under Texas law. The father's legal rights may also be established by the mother filing a suit to establish parentage and requesting child support.

One way to establish parental rights is for the father and the mother to sign an acknowledgement of paternity and file it with the paternity registry in the Bureau of Vital Statistics in Austin, Texas. The father is required to register before the birth of the child or not later than 31 days after the child is born. If the father fails to register with the paternity registry, he may be prevented from asserting any legal rights as a father to the child in the future.

The father may also file a separate lawsuit to establish that he is the father to the child. The court may require the father to have genetic testing done to prove he is the biological father. Instead of genetic testing, the court may accept an acknowledgement of paternity signed by the father and mother agreeing that the man is the father of the child. In either case, the father is then legally found to be the father of the child and a parent under Texas law. This gives the father certain legal rights and duties to the child, including the right to ask the court for custody.

Filing for custody when the parents are not married to each other, have a child together, and the mother is married to someone else. When the mother is married to someone else the man the woman is married to is presumed to be the father to the child. This means that the husband has all the rights and duties to the child and the man who thinks he is the father has none. The man who believes he is the father to the child still has the duty to register with the paternity registry. If the child has been raised by the husband, up until the time the child is four years old the man who believes he is the father may also file a separate lawsuit objecting that the husband is the father to the child. The court will order genetic testing to prove which man is the father to the child. If the man who believes he is the father is proven to be the father, he will have the rights and duties of a parent under Texas law and will have the same right to ask for custody as the mother. If the mother and husband are still married to one another but are in the process of divorce, the mother must notify the court of the possibility that there is another man who could be the father so that person can be notified. The husband also has the right to be tested to show he is not the father to the child. If it is proven that the husband is not the father to the child, and the court finds it is in the best interest of the child, then the husband will not be required to pay child support and the husband will not have any legal rights or visitation with the child.

Other potential issues in a custody suit. When the decision of where the child will primarily live is disputed, investigators may be appointed by the court to assist the court in reaching a decision. The court also may impose certain limitations or requirements on the parents to protect the best interest of the children.

Social Studies. The social study is a court ordered investigation of the circumstances and home life of the parents and the child. It is usually conducted by a social worker, who will visit the home of each parent and interview the child, the parents, and other persons involved in the child's life. When the investigation is finished, the social worker will write a recommendation to the court as to what would be in the best interest of the child, including where the child should primarily live and/or what type of visitation schedule would be best. Normally the parties are ordered to each pay for half the cost of the social study.

Psychological or Psychiatric Evaluations. A psychological or psychiatric evaluation is a court ordered evaluation of a person or child involved in the lawsuit. The evaluation is conducted by a licensed psychologist or psychiatrist who will provide a written report to the court. The judge will determine if one or both parties will be responsible for payment of the evaluation.

Amicus Attorney. An Amicus Attorney is an attorney appointed by the court to represent the best interest of the child. The attorney will meet with the child and each parent, and will investigate the concerns and facts of the case. The Amicus Attorney may call witnesses, ask questions and make an argument to the court the same as any other attorney in the case. The court will determine if one or both parties will be responsible for payment of the Amicus Attorney's fees.

Attorney Ad Litem. An Attorney Ad Litem is an attorney appointed by the court to represent the wishes of the child. Because the child is his client, he must adhere to the rules of confidentiality and undivided loyalty to the child. The attorney ad litem argues on the child's behalf. The Attorney Ad Litem may call witnesses, ask questions and make an argument to the court the same as any other attorney in the case. The court will determine if one or both parties will be responsible for payment of the Attorney Ad Litem's fees.

Guardian Ad Litem. A Guardian Ad Litem is a person appointed by the court to represent the best interests of a child. The guardian ad litem is usually a volunteer trained to be a Court Appointed Special Advocate (CASA) and is normally not an attorney.

Drug Testing. If allegations arise concerning a parent using illegal drugs, the court may order one or both parents to submit to immediate or random drug testing. The judge will determine if one or both parents will be responsible for payment of the testing. The judge may also impose an order prohibiting one or both parents from using illegal drugs or alcohol while the child is in his or her possession.

Prohibition on overnight visitors. Sometimes the court will prohibit one or both parents from having unrelated overnight visitors of the opposite sex (or the same sex if a parent is homosexual) while the child is in his or her possession. This order may be on a temporary or ongoing basis. The purpose for this order is to maintain stability for the child.

Child's Preference. When a child is age 12 or over, he or she may sign a statement choosing the parent with whom the child primarily wants to live. This statement is filed with the court and is considered persuasive evidence to the judge. However, the child's choice is subject to the approval of the court, and the court will make the final ruling as to where the best place will be for the child to live.

Geographic (Domicile) Restriction. If the parents are named Joint Managing Conservators, the court is required to establish a geographic area for the child's primary residence. The court may order the child to maintain primary residence within that county, or that county and its surrounding counties for as long as the possessory parent resides in that county or a contiguous county. The courts favor this type of domicile restriction, and it is commonly ordered because it is normally in the best interest of the child to live close to both parents. If the custodial parent moves far away, it creates a hardship for the other parent to exercise his/her visitation. The court wants the child to have the opportunity to maintain close and meaningful relationships with both of his/her parents. If the primary parent does not want a domicile restriction on

the children, that parent will have to show the court a compelling reason why a move away from the other parent would be in the best interest of the child.

VISITATION / POSSESSION AND ACCESS

Texas law describes visitation as possession and access. The parent who gets visitation is the person with whom the child does not primarily live. There are several types of visitation in Texas, (1) standard possession order, (2) modified possession order, (3) modified under three possession order, and (4) supervised visitation order. Generally the courts will allow the parties to work out an arrangement between themselves that they believe is best for the child. The parents can usually schedule visits by agreement, but when they cannot agree, the court order is considered the "back up." Sometimes the court will not allow visitation due to a history of family violence or a potential danger to the physical or emotional welfare of the child. If visitation will be limited, the court may order the visitation be supervised with a neutral third party or a private organization that provides supervised visitation options to parents. If a private agency is used, the visiting parent may be responsible for payment of the agency's fees to visit the child. Absent such a limitation, the parties may agree on different schedules and times even though they have a specific court order. Some believe it is best to follow the terms of the court order so each parent knows the schedule in advance and consistency is maintained for the child.

What is the standard possession order? Visitation arrangements can have many variations. In fact, parents may agree to almost any schedule regarding visitation. However, if parents cannot agree, child visitation will generally follow a schedule developed by the Texas legislature that is designed to be fair and workable for both parents in most circumstances.

Generally, the standard possession order ("SPO") provides that the possessory (visiting) parent is granted visitation of the child beginning at 6:00 p.m. every first, third and fifth Friday of each month and ending at 6:00 p.m. on the following Sunday, as well as every Thursday evening, from 6:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. The possessory parent may request an extended version of this schedule where he or she would have possession of the child from the time school is dismissed on the first, third and fifth Fridays until school resumes on Monday morning, and on Thursday evenings from the time school is dismissed until Friday morning. All holidays, including Thanksgiving, Christmas (winter) and spring break are divided between the parents, giving one parent the right to spend a particular holiday with the child every other year. The SPO also provides for the possessory parent to have 30 days with the child during the summer, or 42 days if the child lives more than 100 miles away from the other parent. If the visiting parent lives over 100 miles away, that parent would also be given possession of the child every year for spring break.

What is a modified possession order? The modified possession order means the terms of possession are changed from the typical standard possession order (described above). The modified possession order terms will vary depending on the needs of the parents, the age of the child, and specific issues of the case. Some examples of modifications may be adding additional visitation time as the child increases in age, or

accounting for a parent's work schedule.

What is a modified under three possession order? The court may consider the needs of a child to determine if visitation should be limited while the child is under the age of three. This modified order may state the child shall not have overnight visitation with the other parent until the child reaches a certain age. For example, the order may state the child visit on Saturday and Sunday from 10:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. or in the evenings from 6:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. The court will consider the age and needs of the child, including the child's normal structure and routine, as well as the history of each parent's involvement with the child. If the visiting parent has already established a schedule of caring for the child overnight, it is unlikely the court will put new limitations on the visiting parent's schedule. If such limitations are put in place until a child reaches a certain age, the parent who has primary possession of the child is expected to cooperate with the visiting parent to insure the visiting parent has ample visitation time without unreasonably disrupting the child's routine and environment. Both parents should also provide the other with a list of the child's schedule and routine while the child has been with him or her so the schedule may be maintained.

What happens if the parent refuses to follow the visitation order? If a parent refuses to let the other parent have possession of the child pursuant to the terms of the court order, the remedy is to go back to the court and ask the judge to make them comply with the order. The parent asking the court to enforce the order must show proof they did everything they were supposed to do and the other parent failed to turn over the child. For example, if that parent is supposed to pick up the child on Friday at 6:00 p.m., he must describe to the court each incident where he appeared at the right time and place and the other parent failed to surrender or release the child. If the court orders the parent to comply with the order and the parent still refuses, the other parent may also ask the court to issue a criminal contempt citation. If the court finds the parent guilty of criminal contempt, the punishment may be jail time and/or a fine.

What happens if the parent who is supposed to visit does not visit the child? You cannot force a parent to visit his or her child. There are no legal remedies to make a parent exercise his or her visitation rights. The parent with whom the child primarily lives has to make the child available according to the terms of the visitation order, but if the parent does not want to visit then there is nothing the court can do. However, failure of a parent to visit the child may become an important issue if there are later court hearings regarding conservatorship and possession issues.

What happens if I want to move? The geographical restriction is on the child, not the parents. This means if the parent who has primary possession of the child wants to move, he or she can, but the child cannot move if there is a geographical or domicile restriction in the court order. Normally, if the order has a specific geographical restriction on the child and the possessory parent still lives within that area, the parent who has primary possession of the child must get the written agreement of the other parent before he or she can move. This written agreement should be filed with the court. If there is no agreement, the parent wanting to move must obtain permission from the court. The court will require the moving parent to show what substantial change in circumstances is requiring the move and how the move will be in the best interest of

the child. The parent must show the court why the move away from the other parent would be best for the child, and explain how he/she will assist in helping the visiting parent continue a frequent and meaningful visitation schedule with the child. If the possessory parent has moved away then it is possible the court's approval is not needed if the parent with primary possession wants to move, but this depends on the terms of the order and the moving parent should read over the terms carefully.

What happens if a parent disregards the geographic restriction? If the primary care parent disregards the order and moves without the agreement of the other parent or the court, the visiting parent can go to court and request the court enforce the terms of the geographic restriction. The court could force the parent to bring the child back to the location where the visits were supposed to take place, even if the parent has moved out of state. This may have the affect of the moving parent being forced to move back, or losing the right to have the child primarily reside with him or her.

What if there is no geographical restriction? If there is no geographical restriction in the order, the parent is free to move wherever and whenever he/she wants. The parent with whom the child visits may not prevent the parent from moving without going to court and getting the court to modify the prior order.

Do I have to make my child visit if the child does not want to go? YES! The only exception to this rule is if a parent believes the child may be in danger if the visit occurs. If the parent suspects the child may be in danger then he/she should contact the appropriate law enforcement or child protection agencies. The parent should also file an emergency motion with the court asking the court to suspend the visitation because the child is in danger. A parent cannot refuse to send the child for a visit because the child does not like the other's parent's house, neighborhood, spouse, boyfriend or girlfriend, or just because they are having a bad day. Texas law requires that the parent make the child available for visitation unless the parent goes back to court and gets a different court order. The parent is not allowed to alienate the other parent and, even if the parents do not like each other, the child should always be encouraged to visit the other parent.

Do I have to let the other parent visit if he/she doesn't pay child support? YES! The order for child support and the order for visitation are completely separate. The court looks at this from the child's point of view. No matter what, that parent is still the child's father or mother. Whether or not the parent is paying child support, the child still has a right to a meaningful relationship with his/her parent. Similarly, even if the parent ordered to pay child support does not or is not allowed to visit, he or she still must pay support.

What happens if the parent shows up late to pick up the child? The parent who is supposed to visit the child should make every effort to pick the child up on time. If the parent is going to be late, he or she should notify the other parent. If the parent shows up within 15 minutes of the appointed time, then the other parent should go ahead and let the child go with the visiting parent. However, if the parent shows up an hour late, then it is up to the discretion of the primary parent whether to let the child go. This comes down to what is reasonable. If the primary parent has other plans, he

or she is not expected to wait all weekend for the visiting parent to show up. The court will consider what is reasonable, and what is in the best interest of the child when determining how to interpret these situations. The parents should use appropriate judgment and strive toward cooperation as much as possible.

CHILD SUPPORT

Who pays child support? Under Texas law all parents have a duty to support their child. This means the parent must provide the child with food, clothing, shelter, education and other necessary things to live. A parent who does not primarily reside with the child has the duty and obligation to support his/her child. The parent ordered to pay child support is called the *Obligor*. The parent who receives child support is called the *Obligee*.

When and how is child support paid? A child support order requires the obligor to make regular payments in a specific amount to the primary custodial parent. The court will not put limitations on how the custodial parent spends the child support. The child support is presumed to go toward the support of the child's household, either directly or indirectly, and therefore ultimately serves the child's best interest however it is spent. Normally the support is paid through the state registry and then sent to the custodial parent so there is a record of payment. If the court allows the payments to be sent directly to the custodial parent, it is important both parents keep a record of all payments sent and received.

What is the employer's order to withhold income for child support? The law in Texas requires child support to be taken directly out of the obligor's paycheck. When child support is established, an order called An Employer's Order to Withhold Income for Child Support (also called the Withholding Order) will be signed by the judge and sent to the obligor's employer. This order requires the employer to withhold income for child support out of each paycheck. Even if the obligor changes jobs, the withholding order will apply to any new employer of the obligor. The obligor is required to notify the court and the other parent of any changes in his employment situation including the new employer's name, address and phone number. If both parties agree, the withholding order may be suspended until such time as the obligor becomes behind in payment. In that situation, the obligor will be responsible for making the monthly payments on his/her own and the withholding order will not be sent to the employer until he/she is late in payment. Although it may take a few weeks to get the process started, once it is up and running. The withholding order often makes the process of paying child support smooth and simple. All child support payments are then sent by the employer to a central processing unit where the checks are processed and submitted to the parent to whom the support is owed.

Who pays for the child's health insurance? An additional required form of child support is health insurance, also called medical child support. It is the responsibility of the noncustodial parent to make sure that the child has health care coverage. This may be through private insurance, CHiPS or Medicaid. If the noncustodial parent does not have access to health insurance and the custodial parent does, the court will require the

noncustodial parent to reimburse the custodial parent for the cost to insure the child. The uninsured medical expenses are normally divided equally between the parents.

How do I get a court order for child support?

Contact the Attorney General's Office. A parent seeking a court order for child support may go to the local office of the Texas Attorney General and fill out an application for assistance with child support. Most people call this the "child support office." The parent seeking child support should be ready to provide the noncustodial parent's home and employment addresses, telephone numbers, date of birth or social security number. The office of the Attorney General will then notify the noncustodial parent to see if an agreement can be reached regarding that parent paying child support. If an agreement cannot be reached, then the Attorney General's office will file a lawsuit asking the court to order child support. They will also ask that the child support be deducted from the parent's paycheck.

Contact a Private Attorney. A parent seeking a court order for child support may hire a private lawyer and file a lawsuit called a Suit Affecting the Parent Child Relationship. This is basically the same lawsuit the Attorney General will file. However a private attorney represents the parent and the Attorney General represents the State. A private attorney will cost more money because the Attorney General does not charge attorney's fees to the parent seeking child support. However, there are advantages to hiring a private attorney, such as the opportunity to reach a quicker resolution and the ability to address a parent's concerns about the standard joint conservatorship rights and duties and/or the standard visitation schedule.

How do I calculate the amount of child support? The amount owed by the obligor will depend on the obligor's income and the number of children for whom the obligor has a duty to support (both from the children involved in this court case as well as children from another relationship).

Texas has guidelines for determining how much a parent should pay in child support. The parent responsible for paying child support is allowed to deduct from his gross pay (the income before taxes or any deductions) federal taxes, social security, union dues and cost of the child's health insurance. After these items are deducted, the court uses a percentage of the obligor's net income to determine the amount of child support the obligor should pay. If the obligor does NOT have any other children to support and the obligor's monthly net resources are \$6,000 per month or less, then the percentage of child support applied is as follows:

20% (from net monthly income) for 1 child 25% (from net monthly income) for 2 children 30% (from net monthly income) for 3 children 35% (from net monthly income) for 4 children 40% (from net monthly income) for 5 children The percentage continues to increase by 5% per child, however no parent may be required to pay more than 50% of his or her net earnings to fulfill all of his or her child support obligations. If the parent has other children to support from another relationship, the court will take that into account and the percentages will be less. Also, factors such as whether the noncustodial parent is intentionally unemployed, or underemployed (not earning as much as he or she is capable) will be considered by the court. Normally, unless the non-custodial parent is unable to work due to disability, the court will require some amount of child support. It is presumed the noncustodial parent is capable of earning at least minimum wage unless he or she can prove otherwise. On the other hand, if the obligor has monthly net income over \$6,000, the court will apply the percentage guidelines to the first \$6,000 of the obligor's net monthly resources, and may order additional amounts of child support as appropriate, considering the income of the parties and the proven needs of the child.

What if the parent does not pay the child support? As explained earlier with visitation, a child support order is an ORDER from the court. This means if a parent refuses to timely pay his or her child support, the other parent can go back to court and ask the judge to enforce the order. The parent who refuses to pay child support can be punished by contempt and put in jail and/or fined. A parent who is not receiving child support may seek assistance through the collection of the child support office at their local Attorney General's office or may hire a private attorney. More information on this topic may be found under Enforcement Remedies later in this booklet.

MODIFICATION OF A SUIT AFFECTING THE PARENT CHILD RELATIONSHIP

A **Petition or Motion for Modification** is a suit requesting a change from the last court order affecting the child. The modification may be in regard to child support, conservatorship (custody), and/or possession and access.

Who may file for a modification? A person affected by the prior court order, or a person who would have standing to sue in an original suit to affect the parent child relationship regarding the child, may file for a modification.

Where should the modification be filed? The modification suit should be filed in the court of continuing exclusive jurisdiction, i.e. the last court to issue a final order.

Who needs to be notified of the modification? Any party whose rights and duties may be affected by a suit for modification is entitled to receive notice by personal service of citation.

<u>Can temporary orders be issued in a modification?</u> Yes, however, the court may not render a temporary order that changes the designation of the person having exclusive right to designate the primary residence of the child under the final order unless:

 the order is necessary because the child's present living environment may endanger the child's physical health or significantly impair the child's emotional development;

- (2) the person designated in the final order has voluntarily relinquished the primary care and possession of the child for more than six months and the temporary order is in the best interest of the child; or
- (3) the child is 12 years of age or older and has filed with the court in writing the name of the person who is the child's preference to have the exclusive right to designate the primary residence of the child, and the temporary order designating that person is in the best interest of the child.

<u>Is a change in circumstances required to request a modification?</u> There must be a *material and substantial change* in circumstances since the last court order to be able to request a modification. For example, there is an increase in travel expenses due to a parent's change of residence; a parent is convicted of child abuse or family violence; the needs, standard of living, or lifestyle of a parent or child changes; the child's residence changes; or military service changes a parent's living status.

What must I show to modify an order regarding custody or possession and access? You must show the modification would be in the best interest of the child, and either:

- (1) the circumstances of the child, a conservator or other party affected by the order have materially and substantially changed since the earlier of (a) the date the order was rendered, or (b) the date the mediation order or collaborative agreement was signed on which the order is based; or
- (2) the child is at least 12 years of age and has filed with the court, in writing, the name of the person who is the child's preference to have the exclusive right to designate the primary residence; or
- (3) the conservator who has the exclusive right to designate the primary residence of the child has voluntarily relinquished the primary care and possession of the child to another person for at least six months.

Can a modification be filed within one year of the order establishing the parent who has the exclusive right to designate the primary residence of the child? If a suit is filed seeking to change the person who has the exclusive right to determine the primary residence of the child not later than one year after the order is rendered or the mediated or collaborative settlement is signed, then the person seeking the modification must sign an affidavit stating facts supporting at least one of the following:

- (1) the child's present environment may endanger the child's physical health or significantly impair the child's emotional development;
- (2) the person who has the exclusive right to designate the primary residence of the child is the person seeking or consenting to the modification and the modification is in the best interest of the child; or
- (3) the person who has the exclusive right to designate the primary residence of the child has voluntarily relinquished the primary care and possession of the child for at least six months and the modification is in the best interest of the child.

If the court does not find adequate facts to support any of the allegations listed above, the court will deny the modification and refuse to schedule a hearing for modification.

If the court determines the facts stated in the affidavit are adequate to support an allegation, the court will set a time and place for the modification hearing.

Can a modification be filed when there is an increase of travel expenses due to a parent's change of residence? Yes. If a change of residence results in increased expenses for a parent having possession of or access to a child, the court may issue appropriate orders to take into account those increased expenses and the best interest of the child. It is presumed that the parent whose residence has changed shall be responsible for payment of the increased expenses. However, the parent whose residence has changed may present evidence to the court to try to overcome that presumption.

What must be shown to modify a child support order? To change a child support order, you need to show the court the following:

- (1) there has been a material and substantial change in circumstances affecting a child or person affected by the order since the last court order, or
- (2) it has been three years since the last order and the monthly amount of child support differs by either 20 percent or \$100 from the amount that would be awarded now under the child support guidelines.

If the person ordered to pay child support remarries can the court consider the income of the new spouse? No. The court cannot consider the income or needs of the new spouse when calculating the child support.

<u>Can the change in child support be retroactive?</u> Yes, but only back to the earlier of the date the opposing party is served with citation, or the opposing party makes an appearance in the suit.

ENFORCEMENT REMEDIES IN FAMILY COURT

The enforcement of family law related court orders involves complex issues of procedural law, criminal law, statutory interpretation, and case law. Depending on what kind of order is sought to be enforced, there are many different remedies available.

<u>Contempt of Court.</u> Contempt of court is defined as the failure of someone to obey a lawful order of a court, disrespect for the judge, or disruption of the proceedings through bad behavior. A judge may impose civil (a fine) or criminal (jail) sanctions for someone found guilty of contempt of court. Contempt of court is often referred to simply as "in contempt".

The two basic types of contempt, criminal and civil, are defined by the punishment imposed. For criminal contempt, the punishment is incarceration in the county jail for a time certain (maximum of 180 days per violation) and/or a fine (maximum of \$500 a violation).

Contempt can be further classified into two categories based on when the offensive act occurred. Direct contempt is when the contemptuous acts occur in the presence of the judge. If someone is disrespectful to the court, the court has the authority to hold that person in direct contempt and assess a fine or incarcerate the person. If the acts occurred in the past and must be proven to have occurred, then the contempt is constructive. Child support and visitation violations are examples of constructive contempt.

Why is the original order important? The original order specifically spells out what must be done to comply with the order. The language must be clear, specific, unambiguous, directive, and cannot be subject to more than one interpretation or meaning. If these requirements are met within the original order, then the order may be enforced by contempt.

Motion for Enforcement. A motion for enforcement is a motion filed with the court to enforce a final order for conservatorship, child support, possession of or access to a child, property division, spousal maintenance, or other provisions of a final order.

What must be stated in a motion to enforce? The motion to enforce must be clear as to what type of punishment is being requested (criminal or civil or both), including how many days and/or the amount of the fine requested.

If the punishment requested is incarceration for more than 180 days and/or a fine of more than \$500, the person being sued for enforcement, called the respondent, may request a jury trial and may be entitled to a court appointed attorney if the court finds he does not have adequate income or resources to afford one.

A motion to enforce a child support order must:

- include the amount as provided in the order, the amount paid, and the amount of arrearages; and
- if contempt is requested, must include the portion of the order allegedly violated and, for each date of the alleged contempt, the amount due and the amount paid, if any.

A motion to enforce an order other than for child support, must, in ordinary and concise language:

- identify the provision of the order allegedly violated and sought to be enforced:
- 2. state the manner of the respondent's alleged noncompliance;
- 3. state the relief requested by the movant; and
- 4. contain the signature of the movant or the movant's attorney.

What deadlines apply to getting a contempt or enforcement order? When bringing a motion for enforcement the first thing that must be addressed is whether a court retains jurisdiction to render a contempt order. A contempt order for failure to comply with orders must be brought by the following deadlines:

Enforcement of Child Support – A contempt order for failure to comply with a child support order can be brought in the last court to hear the case if the motion

for enforcement is filed no later than six months after the date: (1) the child becomes an adult; or (2) the child support obligation ends under the order or by operation of law. However, if the enforcement suit is brought to collect child support arrearages, the statute of limitations does not apply and is indefinite.

Enforcement of Property Division – For personal property in existence at the time of the divorce decree, the suit must be filed before the second anniversary of the date the decree is signed or becomes a final order after appeal, whichever is later, or the suit is barred. For future property not in existence at the time of the divorce decree, the suit must be filed before the second anniversary of the date the right to the property matures or becomes final, whichever date is later, or the suit is barred. [Texas Family Code Section 9.003.]

Enforcement of Spousal Maintenance – The Texas Family Code is silent regarding the enforcement of spousal maintenance as it relates to a statute of limitations.

Enforcement of Visitation – A motion to enforce possession or access to a child must be filed not later than six months after the child turns 18 or six months after the right of possession and access ends under the order.

How must I notify the opposing party (the respondent)? The motion to enforce must be personally served on the respondent accompanied by an order to appear at a "show cause" hearing. The respondent is entitled to 10 days notice of the hearing. If the respondent is served less than 10 days before the court date, it is easy to avoid any problems by simply swearing the respondent to reappear at a later date, unless the respondent will waive the 10 days notice. If the respondent is served with the order to appear less than 10 days before the hearing date, the respondent must still appear in court on the hearing date, or a capias may be issued for his arrest.

<u>Claiming affirmative defenses in an enforcement action?</u> In defending against enforcement motions, the respondent has several affirmative defenses he or she may claim, including the following:

Child Support Defenses

- 1. Custodial parent (obligee) voluntarily allows child to live with the parent ordered to pay child support (the obligor). This is called *voluntary relinquishment*. If the obligee (the custodial parent) voluntarily gave actual control and possession of the child to the obligor (the noncustodial parent) for a longer period of time than the court-ordered periods of possession, and actual support of the child was supplied by the obligor, then the obligor is entitled to a credit up to the amount of the periodic payments previously ordered for the time the child primarily lived with him or her.
- 2. **Inability to pay the court ordered child support.** If the obligor can prove that he or she lacked the ability to provide support in the amount ordered, lacked property that could be sold, mortgaged, or otherwise pledged to raise the funds needed, attempted unsuccessfully to borrow the funds needed,

and knew of no source from which the money could have been borrowed or legally obtained, the court may dismiss an enforcement claim.

- 3. Money paid directly to the other parent is not included in the child support record, or the child support record is wrong. If the obligor (noncustodial parent) can prove that he or she was not given credit for all payments made, the court may dismiss an enforcement claim or give the obligor a credit for a portion of the enforcement claim brought against him. Proof may be in the form of cancelled checks or receipts from money orders or cashiers checks. However, many courts will not give the obligor credit for direct payments made to the obligee if the child support is ordered to be paid through the registry or if the decree contains the provision that any payments made outside the registry are deemed to be gifts.
- 4. **Past behavior.** The judge will consider past behavior in regard to punishment or sentencing. An obligor can also seek to introduce evidence that goes to punishment. Since the sentencing hearing is not in a separate hearing as in criminal cases, any evidence necessary for the court to impose a sentence less than the movant is asking for needs to be introduced at the hearing.

Spousal Maintenance Defenses. For the enforcement of spousal maintenance, these additional defenses apply: lack of ability to provide maintenance in amount ordered; lack of property that could be sold, mortgaged, or otherwise pledged to raise the funds needed; unsuccessful attempts to borrow the amount ordered; and lack of knowledge of a source from which to borrow or otherwise legally obtain the amount ordered.

Habeas Corpus Defenses. Habeas Corpus is a remedy to have the child immediately returned. Defenses that apply to habeas corpus suits include arguing that no valid order exists or that the other parent voluntary relinquished possession of the child in excess of six months.

Remedies available for enforcing Child Support Orders? When enforcing child support orders, Texas courts have several different options which include:

- 1. Income withholding The court may order income be withheld from the paycheck of the obligor in an amount sufficient to pay off the judgment of arrearage in not more than two years. If the obligor is self employed, or otherwise not subject to wage withholding, the obligor must make periodic payments to the obligee in an amount sufficient to pay off the arrearage and discharge the judgment within a reasonable time. The obligee can request that the court require the obligor to post a bond to ensure compliance with a withholding order.
- 2. **Child support lien** Another way to enforce a child support order is by placing a child support lien by operation of law against any real or personal property of the obligor for the amounts of the child support due and owing, including accrued interest. The amounts do not have to be confirmed in

court before the obligee can obtain a child support lien. However, the lien is subject to the requirements for perfection as found in Section 157.312 of the Texas Family Code.

3. Suspension of license – A child support agency or obligee can file a petition to suspend the license of an obligor who has an arrearage equal to or greater than the total support due for ninety days under a support order. The obligee must first file the petition for suspension of the license and issue notice to the obligor of such filing. If the obligor responds, a hearing will be held from which an order suspending the license can be issued. The entity that issues the license will receive a copy of the order and will then notify the obligor of the suspension. Any license listed in Section 232.002 of the Texas Family Code may be suspended including: driver's license, plumbing, pharmacy, alcoholic beverage, architects, barbers, public accountants, pest control, engineers, polygraph examiners, nurses and doctors, attorneys, midwives, department of health and psychologists.

Under Chapter 232 of the Texas Family Code, a court or the Title IV-D agency (Texas AG) may issue an order suspending a license if an individual who is an obligor: (1) owes overdue child support in an amount equal to or greater than the total support due for three months under a support order; (2) has been provided an opportunity to make payments towards the overdue child support under a court order or agreed payment schedule; and (3) has failed to comply with the repayment schedule. In addition, there are two other instances that warrant license suspension under Chapter 232: (1) when a parent or alleged parent has failed, after receiving appropriate notice, to comply with a subpoena; and (2) when a court has rendered an enforcement order with a finding that the individual has failed to comply with the terms of a court order providing for the possession of or access to a child.

- 4. **Commitment** As discussed previously, criminal contempt can be punished by incarceration in the county jail for a time certain not to exceed 180 days per violation or a fine not to exceed \$500 per violation. Civil contempt can be punished by incarceration for an indefinite period of time until the obligor performs or stops performing a specific act. Thus, if a child support arrearage is \$3,000, a court can order the obligor incarcerated for up to 180 days under criminal contempt and a civil sentence of "day to day thereafter until the respondent pays the arrearage of \$3,000."
- 5. **Community Supervision** When an obligor is held in contempt, he or she may be sentenced to a period of incarceration with the sentence suspended so long the obligor meets certain terms and conditions instead of being jailed. Those terms and conditions may include things such as: visits from a community supervision officer, attending counseling, paying child support arrearages, court costs and attorney's fees, participating in mediation, or seeking employment assistance services. The period of community supervision cannot exceed 10 years.

6. Qualified domestic relations order (QDRO) – Payment of past due child support or spousal maintenance can also be secured by a QDRO. With this option, the child or spouse is named as the alternative payee and monies are distributed to the child or spouse. With child support, the plan participant (the obligor) is taxed for such payments. QDRO is more fully described in the definitions section of this handout.

<u>Remedies available for enforcing visitation orders.</u> When enforcing visitation order, Texas Courts have the following remedies:

- 1. **Habeas Corpus** When a quick remedy is needed and contempt is not appropriate, relief can be sought through a habeas corpus proceeding. This proceeding is most useful when there is no court order and a child is in the possession of a non-parent or when a court order does exist and the child is wrongfully possessed by a parent who does not have a right to possession. This suit must be brought in the court of continuing, exclusive jurisdiction or in the county where the child is found. This suit invokes the authority of the court to end an unlawful retention of a child.
- 2. Warrant to take possession of child Texas has adopted the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (UCCJEA), which provides a court of this state shall recognize and enforce a child custody determination of another state. Under the UCCJEA, a court of this state may use any remedy available under the laws of this state to enforce a child custody order. Thus, upon the filing of a petition seeking enforcement of a child custody order, the petitioner may file a sworn application for the issuance of a warrant to take physical custody of a child if the child is imminently likely to suffer physical harm or be removed from this state. If the court finds evidence of imminent physical harm or removal from the state, a court may issue a warrant to take the physical custody of a child. The respondent must be served with the petition, warrant and order immediately after the child is taken into custody.

Remedies available for Enforcing Property Divisions? When enforcing property divisions, Texas courts have the following remedies:

- 1. Clarification order If the terms of an original order are not clear or specific enough to be enforceable by contempt, the court may render a clarifying order setting forth specific terms to enforce compliance with the original division of property. A court may issue a clarifying order on a party's own request or on the court's own motion. A court must provide a reasonable time for compliance, however, before it can enforce a clarifying order by contempt or other remedy.
- Delivery of property A court may make an order to deliver specific existing property awarded to a party, including an award of an existing sum of money or its equivalent.

- 3. **Money judgment** If a party fails to comply with a final decree of divorce and delivery of property is no longer a viable remedy, a court may order a money judgment for damages caused by a party's failure to comply. A money judgment rendered in this situation may be enforced by any means available for enforcement of judgment for a debt.
- 4. **Right to receive future property** A court may enforce an award of the right to receive a payment or payments due to an owning spouse in the future. The subsequent receipt of said money by the non-owning spouse of such property imposes a constructive trust on property awarded to the owning spouse in a divorce decree for the benefit of the owner.
- Attorneys fees and costs The court may award costs in a proceeding to
 enforce a property division against a disobedient party. In addition, the
 court may also award reasonable attorneys fees as costs in a proceeding to be
 paid directly to the attorney.
- 6. **Turnover Order** If the enforcement is sought for any award other than child support, the court has the authority to order the obligor to turn over all non-exempt property, documents, and records to the petitioner if three requirements are met: (1) the judgment debtor owns property, including a present or future right to property, (2) the property cannot be attached or levied on by an ordinary legal process, and (3) the property is not exempt from attachment, execution, or seizure for the satisfaction of liabilities.
- 7. **Suit for breach of contract or suit for declaratory judgment** Chapter 9 of the Texas Family Code provides a method for enforcement of the property division by allowing the filing of a suit for breach of contract or a declaratory judgment within two years of the signing of the decree.

Remedies to enforce court-ordered spousal maintenance (alimony) Lastly, to enforce court-ordered spousal maintenance, the Texas courts have the following remedies:

1. **Income withholding** – In a proceeding in which periodic payments of spousal maintenance are ordered, modified, or enforced, the court may order that income be withheld from the disposable earnings of the obligor. However, this does not apply to contractual alimony (agreements reached without a court order) or spousal maintenance unless (1) the contract specifically permits income withholding, or (2) the alimony or maintenance payments are not timely made under the terms of the contract. However, the court may order additional income be withheld above the current spousal maintenance to be applied toward the reduction of any arrearages. This additional amount withheld must be in a manner that will discharge the arrearages in the least amount of time: either (1) an amount sufficient to discharge the arrearages in not more than two years; or (2) 20% of the amount withheld for current maintenance.

2. Qualified Domestic Relations Order (QDRO) – Payment of past due spousal maintenance can also be secured by a QDRO. With spousal maintenance, however, the payee will be taxed for such payments so the benefits of a QDRO for the enforcement of a spousal maintenance order may not be the most cost-effective choice. QDRO is more fully described in the definitions section of this handout.

You cannot be held in contempt in all circumstances. Not all orders are enforceable by contempt. The following are restrictions on the enforceability of orders through contempt:

- 1. Orders for the payment of debts are not enforceable by contempt, as such would violate Article I, Section 18, of the Texas Constitution.
- A person cannot be held in contempt for failing to perform an act he is incapable of performing.
- The court cannot hold a person in contempt for something that is beyond its power to order.
- A person cannot be held in contempt unless the judgment or order specifically "spells out" what the respondent is to do and how he is to do it.

Even if an order cannot be enforced with contempt, however, there may still be contractual remedies to enforce the terms of an agreed decree.

COMMON WORDS IN TEXAS FAMILY COURT

ADR Statement – Alternative Dispute Resolution Statement. A written statement to the court that you will try to resolve the issues in the divorce between you and your spouse before asking the Judge to make a decision. This document was previously required to be attached to the divorce petition.

Affidavit of Inability to Pay Court Costs – A sworn statement of your income, assets and expenses.

Alternate payee – A spouse, former spouse, child, or other dependent of a member or retiree who is recognized by a domestic relations order as having a right to receive all or a portion of the benefits payable by a retirement system with respect to such member or retiree.

Amicus Attorney – An Attorney appointed by the court to represent the best interest of the child.

Arrearage – Money that was court ordered to be paid and is overdue and unpaid.

Attorney Ad Litem – An Attorney appointed by the court to represent the wishes of the child as he would for an adult client. The rules of confidentiality and undivided loyalty apply.

Binding Agreement – An agreement between the parties that is signed by both of them, and is often also filed with the court. It is enforceable as a contract and the Judge may decide to make the agreement enforceable as a court order.

Child Support – Money paid by a parent to help the other parent support the child.

Collaborative Law – A method of alternative dispute resolution where all parties agree to resolve their disagreements without going to court. Each person hires his or her own attorney and everyone works together in a series of meetings to reach an agreement.

Community Property – Property owned by either party during the marriage.

Community Debt – Debts that occurred during the marriage.

Conservatorship – A court order deciding where a child will live and the rights each parent will have to make decisions regarding the child. Also known as "custody."

Court Clerk – The person who works for the Judge assigned to your case. He/she receives court papers and assigns hearing dates.

Court Reporter – Types and/or records a record of everything said during a court hearing. The court reporter will prepare a written record if requested for a fee.

Custodial Parent (Sole or Joint Managing Conservator) – The parent who has the legal right to determine the primary residence of the child.

Decree – Also known as Final Decree of Divorce. The legal document signed by the Judge that grants the divorce and describes the specific terms of the divorce.

District Clerk – Maintains the official court records for the county. The district clerk's office receives all court papers and keeps the divorce files.

Divorce – The legal end of the marriage relationship.

Docket Number – The number given to your case by the district clerk's office that specifically identifies your case.

Domestic Relations Order – Any judgment, decree, or order, including approval of a property settlement agreement, which relates to the provision of child support, alimony payments, or marital property rights to a spouse, former spouse, child, or other dependent of a member or retiree, and is made pursuant to a domestic relations law, including a community property law of the State of Texas or of another state.

Dual Role Attorney – An Attorney appointed in a suit by a governmental entity to represent both the child's wishes and the child's best interest.

Employer's Order to Withhold – A court order to deduct child support payments from someone's employment wages. All child support court orders must include an Employer's Order to Withhold.

Evidence – Proof given to the court.

Filing – Giving the district clerk your legal papers.

Guardian Ad Litem – A person appointed by the court to represent the best interests of a child.

Insupportability – The most common reason given for a no-fault divorce.

Joint Managing Conservatorship – Also known as Joint Custody. A court order stating both parents have equal rights and duties to make decisions regarding the child.

Judge – The person who hears and makes the final legal decision in your divorce.

Law Librarian – The person who maintains legal reference and research materials for public use.

Managing Conservator – The parent who has the legal right to determine the primary residence of the child. Also known as Custodial Parent, Primary Conservator or Primary Joint Managing Conservator.

Mediation – A process to help the parties reach an agreement.

Mediator – A neutral person who helps the parties reach an agreement.

Negotiations – An attempt to reach an agreement.

No Fault Divorce – The most common type of divorce, where no one needs to prove that the husband or wife caused the marriage to end.

Non-binding – A process where no specific result is forced on the parties. There is no penalty if the parties are unable to come to an agreement.

Non-custodial Parent – Also known as the Possessory Conservator. The parent that does not have the legal right to determine the primary residence of the child.

Obligor – The parent who is court ordered to pay child support.

Obligee – The parent who receives child support on behalf of the child.

Parties – The husband and wife, and anyone else who has filed a court appearance in the divorce.

Paternity – A court finding that a certain person is legally the father of the child.

Petition – A legal paper that starts your divorce case and tells the court and your spouse what you want.

Petitioner – The person who files for the divorce.

Possession Order – Also known as "visitation" or "access." A court order stating the specific days and times a noncustodial parent may spend time with the child.

Possessory Conservator – Also known as the non-custodial parent. The parent who does not have the legal right to determine the primary residence of the child.

Primary Conservator – The parent who has the legal right to determine the primary residence of the child. Also known as Custodial Parent, Managing Conservator or Primary Joint Managing Conservator.

Process Server – A person approved by the court who gives official legal notice to another person by giving him/her an official copy of a court document.

Pro Se – Representing yourself without an attorney.

Prove Up – The process of finishing your divorce in front of the Judge at an uncontested court hearing. At the prove up, one or both of the parties recite the required information to the court. The Judge then has the discretion to approve the terms, grant the divorce and/or make any other orders the Judge believes are appropriate.

Psychological Evaluation – A court ordered evaluation of a person involved in the lawsuit. The evaluation is conducted by a licensed psychologist who will provide a written report to the court.

Psychiatric Evaluation – A court ordered evaluation of a person involved in the lawsuit. The evaluation is conducted by a psychiatrist who will provide a written report to the court.

QDRO – Qualified Domestic Relations Order – A domestic relations order which creates or recognizes the existence of an alternate payee's right or assigns to an alternate payee the right to receive all or a portion of the benefits payable with respect to a member or retiree under a public retirement system, which directs the public retirement system to disburse benefits to the alternate payee.

Respondent – The spouse of the person who filed for divorce.

Retroactive Child Support – Child support that was not previously ordered, but should have been paid at a time after the child was born and the parties were separated.

Return – Also called a Sheriff's Return. An affidavit signed by a sheriff or official process server stating the date and time he provided legal notice to the other party, or the reason as to why he was unable to provide legal notice to the other party. The return is filed with the Court.

Separate Property – Property that a spouse owned prior to the marriage, or property that was given to the spouse as a gift or inheritance.

Service – The legal method for giving your spouse a copy of the divorce petition.

Settlement – An agreement reached between the parties.

Social Study – A court ordered investigation of the circumstances and home life of the parents and the child. The social study is usually conducted by a social worker.

Sole Managing Conservatorship – Also known as sole custody. A court order stating one parent has more rights and duties regarding the child than the other parent.

Spousal Maintenance – Also called "spousal support" or "alimony." Money a court requires one spouse to pay to the other spouse for support during and/or after the divorce is granted.

Standard Possession Order – A specific possession schedule designed by the Texas Legislature and found to be in the best interest of the child in most circumstances.

Temporary Orders – Court orders during the pendency of a divorce. Temporary orders may address any issues that need to be dealt with while a divorce is pending, such as custody, visitation, child support, use of property and responsibility to pay debt.

Temporary Mutual Injunction – Also known as a Mutual Injunction. A common order contained in Temporary Orders in a divorce that prohibits the parties from destroying or transferring any community property, incurring further debts, and from any type of harassment to the other party or the child.

Temporary Restraining Order – Also known as a TRO. A common order at the beginning of a divorce that prohibits the other spouse from doing anything to transfer or destroy the property of the marriage or to cause harassment to the other spouse or the child.

Waiver of Service – A legal document, signed by the Respondent in the presence of a notary, that states he/she accepts legal notice of the Petition without an official process server or sheriff or constable giving it to him/her. The waiver of service may also have other legal consequences depending on what is stated in the waiver.

RESOURCES

DIRECTORY OF STATE DISTRICT COURTS

Texas Office of Court Administration

http://data.courts.state.tx.us/OCA/DirectorySearch.aspx

- (* Family District Courts)
- (**Bexar County has free pro se assistance from the Court's staff attorney)
- (**El Paso County has free paralegal help through the Domestic Relations Office)
- (**Travis County has free pro se assistance from the reference attorneys)

DISTRICT	COUNTIES REPRESENTED	PHONE
1	Jasper, Newton, Sabine, San Augustine	409-384-3792
1A	Jasper, Newton, Tyler	409-384-5474
2	Cherokee	903-683-2236
3	Anderson, Henderson, Houston	903-723-7415
4	Rusk	903-657-0358
5	Bowie, Cass	903-798-3004
6	Fannin, Lamar, Red River	903-427-2274
7	Smith	903-535-0625
8	Delta, Franklin, Hopkins, Rains	903-438-4022
9	Montgomery, Waller	936-539-7866
10	Galveston	409-766-2230
11	Harris	713-755-6250
12	Grimes, Leon, Madison, Walker	936-436-4915
13	Navarro	903-654-3020
14	Dallas	214-653-7337
15	Grayson	903-813-4303
16	Denton	940-320-4806
17	Tarrant	817-884-1460
18	Johnson, Somervell	817-556-6820
19	McLennan	254-757-5081
20	Milam	254-697-2651
21	Bastrop, Burleson, Lee, Washington	979-542-3641
22	Caldwell, Comal, Hays	512-393-7700
23	Brazoria, Matagorda, Wharton	979-849-5711
24	Calhoun, De Witt, Goliad, Jackson,	361-575-3172
	Refugio, Victoria	
25	Colorado, Gonzales, Guadalupe, Lavaca	830-303-4188
25A	Colorado, Gonzales, Guadalupe, Lavaca	361-798-2607
26	Williamson	512-943-1226
27	Bell, Lampasas	254-933-5261
28	Nueces	361-888-0506
29	Palo Pinto	940-659-1225
30	Wichita	940-766-8180
31	Gray, Hemphill, Lipscomb, Roberts,	806-826-5501
	Wheeler	
32	Fisher, Mitchell, Nolan	915-235-3133
33	Blanco, Burnet, Llano, Mason, San Saba	512-756-5436

34	**El Paso	915-546-2101
35	Brown, Mills	915-646-1987
36	Aransas, Bee, Live Oak, McMullen	361-364-6200
	San Patricio	
37	**Bexar	210-335-2515
38	Medina, Real, Uvalde	830-278-3913
39	Haskell, Kent, Stonewall, Throckmorton	940-864-2661
40	Ellis	972-923-5060
41	**El Paso	915-546-2149
42	Callahan, Coleman, Taylor	915-674-1314
43	Parker	817-594-7343
44	Dallas	214-653-7427
45	**Bexar	210-335-2507
46	Foard, Hardeman, Wilbarger	940-552-7051
47	Armstrong, Potter, Randall	806-379-2350
48	Tarrant	817-884-2690
49	Webb, Zapata	956-721-2660
50	Baylor, Cottle, King, Knox	940-888-2852
51	Coke, Irion, Schleicher, Sterling,	915-659-6571
	Tom Green	
52	Coryell	254-865-5911
53	**Travis	512-473-9308
54	McLennan	254-757-5051
55	Harris	713-755-6255
56	Galveston	409-766-2226
57	**Bexar	210-335-2531
58	Jefferson	409-835-8434
59	Grayson	903-813-4305
60	Jefferson	409-835-8472
61	Harris	713-755-6258
62	Delta, Franklin, Hopkins, Lamar	903-438-4004
63	Edwards, Kinney, Terrell, Val Verde	830-774-7523
64	Castro, Hale, Swisher	806-291-5234
65*	**El Paso	915-546-2102
66	Hill	254-582-4045
67	Tarrant	817-884-1452
68	Dallas	214-653-6510
69	Dallam, Hartley, Moore, Sherman	806-935-2700
70	Ector	915-498-4270
71 72	Harrison	903-935-4896
72	Crosby, Lubbock	806-775-1023
73	**Bexar	210-335-2523
74 75	McLennan	254-757-5075
75 76	Liberty	409-336-4678
76 77	Camp, Morris, Titus	903-577-6736
77 78	Freestone, Limestone Wichita	254-729-3206 940-766-8182
78 79	Brooks, Jim Wells	361-325-5604
13	DIOURS, JIIII WEIIS	301-323-3004

81 Atascosa, Frio, Karnes, La Salle, Wilson 254-883-1421 82 Falls, Robertson 254-883-1421 83 Pecos, Reagan, Terrell, Upton Val Verde 830-774-7654 84 Hansford, Hutchinson, Ochiltree 806-659-4160 85 Brazos 979-361-4270 86 Kaufman 972-932-4331 87 Anderson, Freestone, Leon, Limestone 903-389-4836 88 Hardin, Tyler 409-246-5151 89 Wichita 940-766-8184 90 Stephens, Young 940-549-0091 91 Eastland 254-629-1797 92 Hidalgo 956-318-2250 93 Hidalgo 956-318-2255 94 Nueces 361-888-0320 95 Dallas 214-653-6606 96 Tarrant 817-884-1561 97 Archer, Clay, Montague 940-538-4314 98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940	80	Harris	713-755-6774
83 Pecos, Reagan, Terrell, Upton Val Verde 830-774-7654 84 Hansford, Hutchinson, Ochiltree 806-659-4160 85 Brazos 979-361-4270 86 Kaufman 972-932-4331 87 Anderson, Freestone, Leon, Limestone 903-389-4836 88 Hardin, Tyler 409-246-5151 89 Wichita 940-766-8184 90 Stephens, Young 940-549-0091 91 Eastland 254-629-1797 92 Hidalgo 956-318-2250 93 Hidalgo 956-318-2255 94 Nucces 361-888-0320 95 Dallas 214-653-6606 96 Tarrant 817-884-1561 97 Archer, Clay, Montague 940-538-4314 98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 <tr< td=""><td></td><td>Atascosa, Frio, Karnes, La Salle, Wilson</td><td></td></tr<>		Atascosa, Frio, Karnes, La Salle, Wilson	
84 Hansford, Hutchinson, Ochiltree 806-659-4160 85 Brazos 979-361-4270 86 Kaufman 972-932-4331 87 Anderson, Freestone, Leon, Limestone 903-389-4836 88 Hardin, Tyler 409-246-5151 89 Wichita 940-766-8184 90 Stephens, Young 940-549-0091 91 Eastland 254-629-1797 92 Hidalgo 956-318-2250 93 Hidalgo 956-318-2255 94 Nueces 361-888-0320 95 Dallas 214-653-6606 96 Tarrant 817-884-1561 97 Archer, Clay, Montague 940-538-4314 98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowic, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104	82	Falls, Robertson	254-883-1421
84 Hansford, Hutchinson, Ochiltree 806-659-4160 85 Brazos 979-361-4270 86 Kaufman 972-932-4331 87 Anderson, Freestone, Leon, Limestone 903-389-4836 88 Hardin, Tyler 409-246-5151 89 Wichita 940-766-8184 90 Stephens, Young 940-549-0091 91 Eastland 254-629-1797 92 Hidalgo 956-318-2250 93 Hidalgo 956-318-2255 94 Nueces 361-888-0320 95 Dallas 214-653-6606 96 Tarrant 817-884-1561 97 Archer, Clay, Montague 940-538-4314 98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowic, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104	83	Pecos, Reagan, Terrell, Upton Val Verde	830-774-7654
86 Kaufman 972-932-4331 87 Anderson, Freestone, Leon, Limestone 903-389-4836 88 Hardin, Tyler 409-246-5151 89 Wichita 940-766-8184 90 Stephens, Young 940-549-0091 91 Eastland 254-629-1797 92 Hidalgo 956-318-2250 93 Hidalgo 956-318-2250 94 Nucces 361-888-0320 95 Dallas 214-653-6606 96 Tarrant 817-884-1561 97 Archer, Clay, Montague 940-538-4314 98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 Hall Hall 101 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nue	84	-	806-659-4160
87 Anderson, Freestone, Leon, Limestone 903-389-4836 88 Hardin, Tyler 409-246-5151 89 Wichita 940-766-8184 90 Stephens, Young 940-549-0091 91 Eastland 254-629-1797 92 Hidalgo 956-318-2250 93 Hidalgo 956-318-2255 94 Nueces 361-888-0320 95 Dallas 214-653-6606 96 Tarrant 817-884-1561 97 Archer, Clay, Montague 940-538-4314 98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740	85	Brazos	979-361-4270
88 Hardin, Tyler 409-246-5151 89 Wichita 940-766-8184 90 Stephens, Young 940-766-8184 90 Stephens, Young 940-549-0091 91 Eastland 254-629-1797 92 Hidalgo 956-318-2255 93 Hidalgo 956-318-2255 94 Nucces 361-888-0320 95 Dallas 214-653-6606 96 Tarrant 817-884-1561 97 Archer, Clay, Montague 940-538-4314 98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Carneron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nucces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107		Kaufman	972-932-4331
89 Wichita 940-766-8184 90 Stephens, Young 940-549-0091 91 Eastland 254-629-1797 92 Hidalgo 956-318-2250 93 Hidalgo 956-318-2255 94 Nueces 361-888-0320 95 Dallas 214-653-6606 96 Tarrant 817-884-1561 97 Archer, Clay, Montague 940-538-4314 98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 Hall 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355	87	Anderson, Freestone, Leon, Limestone	903-389-4836
90 Stephens, Young 940-549-0091 91 Eastland 254-629-1797 92 Hidalgo 956-318-2255 93 Hidalgo 956-318-2255 94 Nucces 361-888-0320 95 Dallas 214-653-6606 96 Tarrant 817-884-1561 97 Archer, Clay, Montague 940-538-4314 98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 1	88	Hardin, Tyler	409-246-5151
91 Eastland 254-629-1797 92 Hidalgo 956-318-2250 93 Hidalgo 956-318-2255 94 Nueces 361-888-0320 95 Dallas 214-653-6606 96 Tarrant 817-884-1561 97 Archer, Clay, Montague 940-538-4314 98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-883-3384 <	89	Wichita	940-766-8184
92 Hidalgo 956-318-2250 93 Hidalgo 956-318-2255 94 Nucces 361-888-0320 95 Dallas 214-653-6606 96 Tarrant 817-884-1561 97 Archer, Clay, Montague 940-538-4314 98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 Hall Hall 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-833 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111	90	Stephens, Young	940-549-0091
93 Hidalgo 956-318-2255 94 Nueces 361-888-0320 95 Dallas 214-653-6606 96 Tarrant 817-884-1561 97 Archer, Clay, Montague 940-538-4314 98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 Hall 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-383-384 111 Webb 96-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton </td <td>91</td> <td>Eastland</td> <td>254-629-1797</td>	91	Eastland	254-629-1797
94 Nueces 361-888-0320 95 Dallas 214-653-6606 96 Tarrant 817-884-1561 97 Archer, Clay, Montague 940-538-4314 98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 Hall 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-853 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris<	92	Hidalgo	956-318-2250
95 Dallas 214-653-6606 96 Tarrant 817-884-1561 97 Archer, Clay, Montague 940-538-4314 98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood <t< td=""><td>93</td><td>Hidalgo</td><td>956-318-2255</td></t<>	93	Hidalgo	956-318-2255
96 Tarrant 817-884-1561 97 Archer, Clay, Montague 940-538-4314 98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 Hall Hall 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-084 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613	94	Nueces	361-888-0320
97 Archer, Clay, Montague 940-538-4314 98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley Hall 940-937-3541 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-88	95	Dallas	214-653-6606
98 **Travis 512-473-9307 99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 Hall 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	96	Tarrant	817-884-1561
99 Lubbock 806-775-1124 100 Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 Hall 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	97	Archer, Clay, Montague	940-538-4314
Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley 940-937-3541 Hall 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 120 **El Paso 915-69-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103	98	**Travis	512-473-9307
Hall 101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 193-843-2836 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	99	Lubbock	806-775-1124
101 Dallas 214-653-6937 102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-69-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742<	100	Carson, Childress, Collingsworth, Donley	940-937-3541
102 Bowie, Red River 903-798-3004 103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2		Hall	
103 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0844 104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-031	101	Dallas	214-653-6937
104 Taylor 915-674-1313 105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265	102	Bowie, Red River	903-798-3004
105 Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces 361-595-8533 106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	103	Cameron, Willacy	956-544-0844
106 Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn 806-872-3740 107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	104	Taylor	915-674-1313
107 Cameron, Willacy 956-544-0845 108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-646-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	105	Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces	361-595-8533
108 Potter 806-379-2355 109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	106	Dawson, Gaines, Garza, Lynn	806-872-3740
109 Andrews, Crane, Winkler 915-524-1419 110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	107	Cameron, Willacy	956-544-0845
110 Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley 806-983-3384 111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	108	Potter	806-379-2355
111 Webb 956-721-2671 112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	109	Andrews, Crane, Winkler	915-524-1419
112 Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton 915-392-5225 113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	110	Briscoe, Dickens, Floyd, Motley	806-983-3384
113 Harris 713-755-6294 114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	111	Webb	956-721-2671
114 Smith, Wood 903-535-0613 115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	112	Crockett, Pecos, Reagan, Sutton, Upton	915-392-5225
115 Marion, Upshur 903-843-2836 116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	113	Harris	713-755-6294
116 Dallas 214-653-7446 117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-657-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	114	Smith, Wood	903-535-0613
117 Nueces 361-888-0436 118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	115	Marion, Upshur	
118 Glasscock, Howard, Martin 915-264-2225 119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	116	Dallas	214-653-7446
119 Concho, Runnels, Tom Green 915-659-6570 120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	117	Nueces	361-888-0436
120 **El Paso 915-546-2103 121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	118		915-264-2225
121 Terry, Yoakum 806-637-7742 122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	119	Concho, Runnels, Tom Green	915-659-6570
122 Galveston 409-766-2275 123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	120	**El Paso	915-546-2103
123 Panola, Shelby 903-693-0315 124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	121	Terry, Yoakum	806-637-7742
124 Gregg 903-236-0265 125 Harris 713-755-5577	122		409-766-2275
125 Harris 713-755-5577	123	Panola, Shelby	903-693-0315
	124	Gregg	903-236-0265
126 **Travis 512-473-9300	125		713-755-5577
712 175 7500	126	**Travis	512-473-9300

127	Harris	713-755-6274
128	Orange	409-882-7085
129	Harris	713-755-6278
130	Matagorda	409-244-7635
131	**Bexar	210-335-2521
132	Borden, Scurry	915-573-5371
133	Harris	713-755-6266
134	Dallas	214-653-6995
135	Calhoun, De Witt, Goliad, Jackson	361-575-2412
	Refugio, Victoria	
136	Jefferson	409-835-8481
137	Lubbock	806-775-1022
138	Cameron, Willacy	956-544-0877
139	Hidalgo	956-318-2260
140	Lubbock	806-775-1128
141	Tarrant	817-884-1992
142	Midland	915-688-1134
143	Loving, Reeves, Ward	915-943-2749
144	**Bexar	210-335-2511
145	Nacogdoches	936-560-7799
146	Bell	254-933-5261
147	**Travis	512-473-9311
148	Nueces	361-888-0333
149	Brazoria	979-388-1264
150	**Bexar	210-335-2533
151	Harris	713-755-6830
152	Harris	713-755-6282
153	Tarrant	817-884-2691
154	Lamb	806-385-4222
155	Austin, Fayette, Waller	979-968-8500
156	Aransas, Bee, Live Oak, McMullen	361-362-3239
	San Patricio	
157	Harris	713-755-6270
158	Denton	940-565-8544
159	Angelina	936-639-3913
160	Dallas	214-653-7273
161	Ector	915-498-4260
162	Dallas	214-653-7156
163	Orange	409-882-7090
164	Harris	713-755-6316
165	Harris	713-755-6320
166	**Bexar	210-335-2501
167	**Travis	512-473-9310
168	**El Paso	915-546-2141
169	Bell	254-933-5265
170	McLennan	254-757-5045
171	**El Paso	915-546-2100
172	Jefferson	409-835-8485

173	Henderson	903-675-6107
174	Harris	713-755-6324
175	**Bexar	210-335-2527
176	Harris	713-755-6328
177	Harris	713-755-6332
178	Harris	713-755-6336
179 180	Harris Harris	713-755-6340
		713-755-6344
181	Potter, Randall	806-379-2360
182	Harris	713-755-6350
183	Harris	713-755-6354
184	Harris	713-755-6358
185	Harris	713-755-6362
186	**Bexar	210-335-2505
187	**Bexar	210-335-2517
188	Gregg	903-237-2588
189	Harris	713-755-6366
190	Harris	713-755-6370
191	Dallas	214-653-7117
192	Dallas	214-653-7709
193	Dallas	214-653-6998
194	Dallas	214-653-5800
195	Dallas	214-653-5812
196	Hunt	903-408-4190
197	Cameron, Willacy	956-574-8150
198	Concho, Kerr, Kimble, McCulloch	830-792-2290
	Menard	
199	Collin	972-548-4415
200	**Travis	512-473-9306
201	**Travis	512-473-9305
202	Bowie	903-798-3004
203	Dallas	214-653-5820
204	Dallas	214-653-5830
205	Culberson, **El Paso, Hudspeth	915-546-2107
206	Hidalgo	956-318-2265
207	Caldwell, Comal, Hays	830-620-5562
208	Harris	713-755-6374
209	Harris	713-755-6378
210	**El Paso	915-546-2130
211	Denton	940-565-8536
212	Galveston	409-766-2266
213	Tarrant	817-884-1529
214	Nueces	361-888-0463
215	Harris	713-755-6382
216	Bandera, Gillespie, Kendall, Kerr	830-792-2290
217	Angelina	936-639-3914
218	Atascosa, Frio, Karnes, La Salle, Wilson	830-769-3750
219	Collin	972-548-4402

220	Bosque, Comanche, Hamilton	915-356-5202
221	Montgomery	936-539-7808
222	Deaf Smith, Oldham	806-364-7222
223	Gray	806-669-8014
224	**Bexar	210-335-2132
225	**Bexar	210-335-2233
226	**Bexar	210-335-2446
227	**Bexar	210-335-2304
228	Harris	713-755-6650
229	Duval, Jim Hogg, Star	956-487-2636
230	Harris	713-755-6782
231	Tarrant	817-884-3796
232	Harris	713-755-6778
233	Tarrant	817-884-1794
234	Harris	713-755-6262
235	Cooke	940-668-5401
236	Tarrant	817-884-1709
237	Lubbock	806-775-1027
238	Midland	915-688-1142
239	Brazoria	409-864-1571
240	Fort Bend	281-341-8600
241	Smith	903-535-0600
242	Castro, Hale, Swisher	806-291-5254
243	**El Paso	915-546-2168
244	Ector	915-498-4240
245	Harris	713-755-6935
246	Harris	713-755-6938
247	Harris	713-755-6246
248	Harris	713-755-7094
249	Johnson, Somervell	817-556-6825
250	**Travis	512-473-9312
251	Potter, Randall	806-379-2365
252	Jefferson	409-835-8597
253	Chambers, Liberty	409-336-4668
254	Dallas	214-653-6136
255	Dallas	214-653-6159
256	Dallas	214-653-6449
257	Harris	713-755-6950
258	Polk, San Jacinto, Trinity	936-642-2512
259	Jones, Shackelford	915-823-2721
260	Orange	409-882-7095
261	**Travis	512-473-9309
262	Harris	713-755-6961
263	Harris	713-755-6944
264	Bell	254-933-5262
265	Dallas	214-653-5840
266	Erath	254-965-1485
267	Calhoun, DeWitt, Goliad, Jackson,	361-578-1998
20/	Refugio, Victoria	501 5/0 15/0
	rerugio, victoria	

268	Fort Bend	281-341-8610
269	Harris	713-755-5513
270	Harris	713-755-5509
271	Jack, Wise	940-627-3200
272	Brazos	979-361-4220
273	Sabine, San Augustine, Shelby	936-275-9634
274	Caldwell, Comal, Guadelupe, Hays	830-303-4188
275	Hidalgo	956-318-2270
276	Camp, Marion, Morris, Titus	903-645-2506
277	Williamson	512-943-1277
278	Grimes, Leon, Madison, Walker	936-436-4916
279	Jefferson	409-835-8655
280	Harris	713-755-5518
281	Harris	713-755-5506
282	Dallas	214-653-5852
283	Dallas	214-653-5860
284	Montgomery	936-539-7861
285	**Bexar	210-335-2086
286	Cochran, Hockley	806-894-8240
287	Bailey, Parmer	806-272-5460
288	**Bexar	210-335-2663
289	**Bexar	210-531-1180
290	**Bexar	210-335-2696
291	Dallas	214-653-5870
292	Dallas	214-653-5880
293	Dimmit, Maverick, Zavala	830-758-1730
294	Van Zandt, Wood	903-567-4422
295	Harris	713-755-5541
296	Collin	972-548-4409
297	Tarrant	817-884-1906
298	Dallas	214-653-6781
299	**Travis	512-473-9442
300*	Brazoria	281-756-1227
301*	Dallas	214-653-7385
302*	Dallas	214-653-7375
303*	Dallas	214-653-7611
304*	Dallas	214-698-4936
305*	Dallas	214-698-4924
306*	Galveston	409-766-2255
307*	Gregg	903-237-2534
308*	Harris	713-755-6230
309*	Harris	713-755-6234
310*	Harris	713-755-6238
311*	Harris	713-755-6242
312*	Harris	713-755-6941
313*	Harris	713-755-6470
314*	Harris	713-755-6475
315*	Harris	713-755-6480

316*	Hutchinson	806-878-4019
317*	Jefferson	409-835-8588
318*	Midland	915-688-1145
319*	Nueces	361-888-0533
320*	Potter	806-379-2370
321*	Smith	903-535-0590
322*	Tarrant	817-884-1427
323*	Tarrant	817-838-4600
324*	Tarrant	817-884-1431
325*	Tarrant	817-884-1587
326*	Taylor	915-674-1325
327*	**El Paso	915-546-2032
328*	Fort Bend	281-341-4406
329*	Wharton	979-532-1514
330*	Dallas	214-653-7207
331	**Travis	512-473-9443
332	Hidalgo	956-318-2275
333	Harris	713-755-7760
334	Harris	713-755-7793
335	Bastrop, Burleson, Lee, Washington	979-567-2335
336	Fannin, Grayson	903-813-4309
337	Harris	713-755-7746
338	Harris	713-755-7774
339	Harris	713-755-7784
340	Tom Green	915-658-1915
341	Webb	956-721-2625
342	Tarrant	817-884-2710
343	Aransas, Bee, Live Oak, McMullen,	361-364-6202
313	San Patricio	301 301 0202
344	Chambers	409-267-8264
345	**Travis	512-473-9374
346	**El Paso	915-546-2119
347	Nueces	361-888-0593
348	Tarrant	817-884-2715
349	Anderson, Houston	903-723-7415
350	Taylor	915-674-1242
351	Harris	713-755-5620
352	Tarrant	817-884-2730
353	**Travis	512-473-9380
354	Hunt, Raines	903-408-4194
355	Hood	817-579-3233
356	Hardin	409-246-5155
357	Cameron, Willacy	956-544-0837
358	Ector	915-498-4250
359	Montgomery	936-539-7900
360*	Tarrant	817-884-2721
361	Brazos	817-884-2721
362	Denton	940-565-8516
	•	

363*	Dallas	214-653-5890
364	Lubbock	806-775-1019
365	Dimmit, Maverick, Zavala	830-773-1151
366	Collin	972-548-4570
367	Denton	940-565-8546
368	Williamson	512-943-1368
369	Anderson, Cherokee	903-723-7415
370	Hidalgo	956-318-2280
371	Tarrant	817-884-2985
372	Tarrant	817-884-2990
377	Victoria	361-578-8756
378	Ellis	972-923-5014
379	**Bexar	210-335-2911
380	Collin	972-548-4726
381	Starr	956-716-8020
382	Rockwall	972-882-0270
383	**El Paso	915-546-2132
384	**El Paso	915-546-2134
385	Midland	915-688-1835
386	**Bexar	210-531-1053
387	Fort Bend	281-238-3290
388	**El Paso	915-543-3850
389	Hidalgo	956-318-2080
390	**Travis	512-708-4885
391	Tom Green	915-659-6571
392	Henderson	903-675-6110
393	Denton	940-565-5528
394	Brewster, Culberson, Hudspeth,	915-837-5831
	Jeff Davis, Presidio	
395	Williamson	512-943-1395
396	Tarrant	817-884-2495
398	Hidalgo	956-318-2470
399	**Bexar	210-335-3667
400	Fort Bend	281-341-4422
401	Collin	972-548-4241
402	Wood	906-763-2332
403	**Travis	512-443-0658
404	Cameron	956-544-0838
405	Galveston	409-765-2688
406	Webb	956-718-2797
407	**Bexar	210-335-2693
408	**Bexar	210-335-2831
409	**El Paso	915-834-8209
410	Montgomery	936-539-7860
411	Polk, San Jacinto, Trinity	936-653-5470
413	Johnson	817-556-6040
415	Parker	817-598-6162
416	Collin	972-548-4520

417	Collin	972-548-4287
420	Nacogdoches	936-560-7848
421	Caldwell	512-398-1807
422	Kaufman	972-932-4331

CHILD SUPPORT

Office of the Attorney General, 1-800-252-8011 www.oag.state.tx.us/child/maincil.shtml

Call your local district clerk's office for information on child support paid through the local county.

TEXAS COUNTY WEBSITES

Angelina County, www.angelinacounty.net

Archer County, www.angelinacounty.net

Austin County, www.austincounty.com

Bastrop County, www.bastropcad.org

Bell County, www.bellcountytx.com

Bexar County, www.co.bexar.tx.us

Blanco County, www.moment.net/~blancoco

Bosque County, www.users.htcomp.net/bosque

Bowie County, www.co.bowie.tx.us

Brazoria County, www.brazoria-county.com

Brazos County, www.co.brazos.tx.us

Brownsville City, www.ci.brownsville,tx.us

Calhoun County, www.tisd.net/~calhoun

Cameron County, www.cameroncad.org

Chambers County, www.co.chambers.tx.us

Cherokee County, www.co.cherokee.tx.us

Childress County, www.co.childress.tx.us

Clay County, www.co.clay.tx.us

Coke County, www.co.coke.tx.us

Coleman County, www.co.coleman.tx.us

Collin County, www.co.collin.tx.us

Colorado County, www.rtis.com/reg/colorado-cty/gov.htm

Comal County, www.co.comal.tx.us

Concho County, www.co.concho.tx.us

Cooke County, www.co.cooke.tx.us

Coryell County, www.co.coryell.tx.us

Culberson County, www.co.culberson.tx.us

Dallam County, www.dallam.org/county

Dallas County, www.dallascounty.org

Dawson County, www.co.dawson.tx.us

Denton County, www.co.denton.tx.us

Eastland County, www.eastlandcountytexas.com

Ellis County, www.elliscad.org

El Paso County, www.co.el-paso.tx.us

Erath County, www.erathcad.org

Fayette County, www.co.fayette.tx.us

Foard County, www.foardcounty.org

Fort Bend County, www.co.fort-bend.tx.us

Franklin County, www.co.franklin.tx.us

Frio County, www.co.frio.tx.us

Gaines County, www.gainescounty.org

Galveston County, www.co.galveston.tx.us

Garza County, www.angelfire.com/tx/gcounty/index.html

Glasscock County, www.co.glasscock.tx.us

Goliad County, www.goliad.org

Gray County, www.co.gray.tx.us

Grayson County, www.co.grayson.tx.us

Gregg County, www.co.gregg.tx.us

Guadalupe County, www.co.guadalupe.tx.us

Hale County, www.texasonline.net/halecounty

Hardin County, www.co.hardin.tx.us

Harris County, www.co.harris.tx.us

Harrison County, www.co.harrison.tx.us

Hartley County, www.co.hartley.tx.us

Hays County, www.co.hays.tx.us

Henderson County, www.co.henderson.tx.us

Hidalgo County, www.co.hidalgo.tx.us

Hockley County, www.co.hockley.tx.us

Hood County, www.co.hood.tx.us

Hopkins County, www.hopkinscountytx.org

Houston County, www.co.houston.tx.us

Hunt County, www.co.hunt.tx.us

Irion County, www.co.irion.tx.us

Jack County, www.jackcounty.com

Jackson County, www.co.jackson.tx.us

Jasper County, www.co.jasper.tx.us

Jeff Davis County, www.co.jeff-davis.tx.us

Jefferson County, www.co.jefferson.tx.us

Jim Wells County, www.co.jim-wells.tx.us

Johnson County, www.johnsoncountytx.org

Kent County, www.co.kent.tx.us

Kerr County, www.kerrcounty.org

Kimble County, www.co.kimble.tx.us

Kinney County, www.co.kinney.tx.us

Kleburg County, www.co.kleberg.tx.us

Knox County, www.knoxcountytexas.com

Lavaca County, www.co.lavaca.tx.us

Lee County, www.co.lee.tx.us

Leon County, www.co.leon.tx.us

Liberty County, www.co.liberty.tx.us

Llano County, www.co.llano.tx.us

Loving County, www.co.loving.tx.us

Lubbock County, www.co.lubbock.tx.us

McCulloch County, www.co.mcculloch.tx.us

McLennan County, www.co.mclennan.tx.us

Mason County, www.co.mason.tx.us

Matagorda County, www.co.matagorda.tx.us

Menard County, www.menardtexas.com

Midland County, www.co.midland.tx.us

Milam County, www.milamcounty.org

Montgomery County, www.co.montgomery.tx.us

Moore County, www.co.moore.tx.us

Nacogdoches County, www.co.nacogdoches.tx.us

Navarro County, www.co.navarro.tx.us

Nueces County, www.co.nueces.tx.us

Orange County, www.co.orange.tx.us

Panola County, www.carthagetexas.com

Parker County, www.co.parker.tx.us

Parmer County, www.co.parmer.tx.us

Pecos County, www.co.pecos.tx.us

Polk County, www.co.polk.tx.us

Potter County, www.co.potter.tx.us

Presidio County, www.co.presidio.tx.us

Rains County, www.co.rains.tx.us

Randall County, www.randallcounty.org

Reagan County, www.biglaketx.com

Refugio County, www.refugiocountytx.com

Roberts County, www.co.roberts.tx.us

Rockwall County, www.rockwallcountytexas.com

Runnels County, www.co.runnels.tx.us

Rusk County, www.co.rusk.tx.us

San Jacinto County, www.co.san-jacinto.tx.us

Schleicher County, www.co.schleicher.tx.us

Sherman, www.co.sherman.tx.us

Smith County, www.co.smith.tx.us

Somervell County, www.glenrose.org

Sterling County, www.co.sterling.tx.us

Swisher County, www.co.swisher.tx.us

Tarrant County, www.tarrantcounty.com

Taylor County, www.co.taylor.tx.us

Throckmorton County, www.co.throckmorton.tx.us

Titus County, www.mpcity.net/county

Tom Green County, www.co.tom-green.tx.us

Travis County, www.co.travis.tx.us

Trinity County, www.co.trinity.tx.us

Upshur County, www.upshurcounty.com

Upton County, www.co.upton.tx.us

Uvalde County, www.uvaldecounty.com

Victoria County, www.victoriacountytx.org

Walker County, www.co.walker.tx.us

Waller County, www.co.waller.tx.us

Ward County, www.co.ward.tx.us

Washington County, www.washingtoncotx.com

Webb County, www.webbcounty.com

Wichita County, www.co.wichita.tx.us

Wilbarger County, www.co.wilbarger.tx.us

Williamson County, www.williamson-county.org

Wise County, www.wisecounty.com

LEGAL AID OFFICES - <u>www.texaslawhelp.org</u> or <u>www.texasatj.org</u> ("find legal assistance")

LAWYER REFERRAL SERVICES

Find A Lawyer, www.findlaw.com

Legal Hotline for Older Texans, Austin

1-800-622-2520 Toll Free

Martindale-Hubbell Lawyers.com, www.lawyers.com

State Bar of Texas, 1-800-204-2222 Toll Free

Attorney Referral Line, 1-800-252-9690

www.texasbar.com/public/findlawyer/lawyerref.asp

MISCELLANEOUS RESOURCES

American Psychological Association, <u>www.apa.org</u>, 1-800-964-2000 Psychologist Referral Line

Freedom of Information, Open Records & Open Meetings, 1-800-580-6651 Toll

Free, 214-977-6651

Harris County Court Info, Court House Concierge (713) 228-4700

Innovative Mediation, Dallas (972) 930-0261

Internal Revenue Service, 1-800-829-1040

Single Parent Association, (800) 704-2102 (602) 788-5511

Social Security Administration, 1-800-772-1213

Texas Department of Aging, 1-800-252-9240

Texas Workforce Commission

Unemployment Benefits, 1-800-939-6631

Employees Hotline, 1-800-832-2829

www.twc.state.tx.us

U.S. Department of Labor

Pension & Welfare Benefits Administration, 214-767-6831

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, 1-800-669-4000

U.S. Immigration & Naturalization Service, 1-800-375-5283

INTERNET RESOURCES

American Bar Association, www.abanet.org

American Bar Association, Family Law Section, www.abanet.org/family/

American Academy of Matrimonial Lawyers, www.aaml.org

American Psychological Association, www.apa.org

Child Support Guideline Links, www.supportguidelines.com

Collaborative Law Institute of Texas, www.collablawtexas.com

DivorceNet, www.divorcenet.com

Divorce Online, www.divorceonline.com

Fathers for Kids, <u>www.fathers4kids.org</u> (a membership organization of nonlawyers.

\$100 fee)

Martindale-Hubbell Lawyers.com, www.lawyers.com

Texas Academy of Family Law Specialists, www.tafls.org

Texas Bar Foundation, www.txbf.org

Texas Young Lawyer's Association, www.tyla.org

The Collaborative Law Institute of Texas, www.collablawtexas.com

State Bar of Texas, www.texasbar.com

State Bar of Texas, Family Law Section, www.sbotfam.org

State Bar of Texas, Visitation Centers, www.sbotfam.org/visitationcenters.pdf

State of Texas (TexasOnline), www.state.tx.us

Texas Legislature Online, www.capitol.state.tx.us

Texas Commission on Human Rights, www.tchr.state.tx.us

Texas Department of Heath, www.tdh.state.tx.us

Texas Department of Public Safety, www.txdps.state.tx.us

Texas Pro Se Law Help, www.texaslawhelp.org

Texas Secretary of State, www.sos.state.tx.us

U.S. EEOC (Equal Employment Opportunity Commission),

www.eeoc.gov/index.html

Women's Advocacy Project, <u>www.women-law.org</u> (family law and domestic violence assistance)

Women's Shelters in Texas, www.dhs.state.tx.us/programs/familyviolence/shelters.html